Investigating the face pareidolia neural mechanism

(顔パレイドリア現象の神経機序の解明)

January 2020

Doctor of Philosophy (Engineering)

Yuji Nihei 二瓶 裕司

Toyohashi University of Technology

Department of Computer		Student ID Number D123359	D122250		
Science and Engineering			Supervisore	Shigeki Nakauchi	
Applicant's name	Yuji Nihei			Supervisors	Tetsuto Minami

Date of Submission (month day, year) : January 10th, 2020

Abstract (Doctor)

Title of Thesis	Investigating the face pareidolia neural mechanism
The of Thesis	(顔パレイドリア現象の神経機序の解明)

Approx. 800 words

Humans have an excellent ability to face perception. For example, even a casual pattern such as a cloud may appear like a face. The phenomenon that is seeing objects as a face is called "pareidolia." However, the details of the mechanism of this phenomenon have not been clarified. The purpose of this thesis is to clarify the representation in the brain involved in the face pareidolia phenomenon, which is an illusion of face perception, by psychological, electroencephalogram (EEG), and pupil diameter measurements. In particular, we focus on the differences in the brain and behavior before and after the face pareidolia phenomenon.

First, we investigated whether the inversion effect index of the N170 component reflected face-likeness by observing the correlation between the event-related potential (ERP) components and behavioral reports of face-likeness. Previous ERP studies showed that the P1 component (early visual processing), the N170 component (face detection), and the N250 component (personal detection) reflect the neural processing of faces. Inverted faces were reported to enhance the amplitude and delay the latency of P1 and N170. To investigate face-likeness processing in the brain, we explored the face-related components of the ERP through a face-like evaluation task using natural faces, cars, insects, and Arcimboldo paintings presented upright or inverted. We found a significant correlation between the inversion effect index and face-like scores in P1 in both hemispheres and N170 in the right hemisphere. These results suggest that the judgment of face-likeness occurs in a relatively early stage of face processing.

Next, we investigated how both aspects of bottom-up processing and top-down modulation contribute to face-likeness perception. Humans can immediately judge what kind of object it is by looking at the object. Especially for the face, the ability is sharpened. This ability to quickly group experienced stimuli into meaningful categories (perceptual categorization) is undoubtedly one of the most fundamental high-level brain functions. In the visual domain, the method of investigating the perceptual categorization process is to combine visual periodicity with a direct recording of neural activity, for instance, using EEG. We considered this category-selective response might be generated or modulated by face-likeness. We recorded EEG while presenting natural images of object stimuli in a fast-visual stream. Moreover, we presented an inverted face and face-like object stimuli as a control. As a result, category (face-like object)-selective EEG responses did not elicit in a fast-periodic stream. This result indicates that the face-like category does not generate a unique category-selective response unconsciously. This result suggested that the pareidolia phenomenon does not occur in the bottom-up process.

Moreover, we investigated face pareidolia using pupillary response. The pupillary response was suggested to be influenced by high-level cognition. Therefore, we predicted that the change of pupil diameter might be induced by face pareidolia. We measured that pupil diameter when stimuli were perceived as faces. The stimuli consisted of five circles, including a big circle and four small circles. The subjects performed two tasks (face-like and symmetry) to the same stimuli in the block design. As a result, pupil dilation in face-like conditions showed differences between the face-like task and symmetry task. However, pupil dilation in the symmetry condition showed no differences between tasks. These results suggest that this pupillary effect is specific for the face-like processing by the top-down process and not specific for the symmetry processing.

Lastly, we clarified preference changes with the pareidolia phenomenon. We hypothesized that a face-like object elicited an orienting response, like a face, and attracted more attention than other visual stimuli. However, it is predicted from past studies that the effect does not affect unless a face-like object is recognized as a face. We investigated whether seeing objects as a face would influence preference. In the experiment, we used a pareidolic image that could be perceived as a face or abstracts painting. These images are presented upright or inverted. The participants performed two tasks. 1) to select more preferred in the two alternatives forced-choice task. 2)face-like evaluation tasks. We divided the participants into two groups in the order in which the tasks were performed. The group that first performed "Face-likeness evaluation task," and then performed "Preference task" was defined as "Face biased group." Another group named "No face biased group" performed the first "Preference task" and then "Face-likeness evaluation task." As a result, the Face biased group preferred the upright than the inverted images, although another group did not prefer the upright images. This result suggested that the pareidolia phenomenon affects preference.

We clarified the differences in the brain and behavior before and after the face pareidolia phenomenon. Besides, we identified timing, area, and pupil response associated pareidolia phenomenon. In the future, the findings of the study might be of use to person-to-machine communication or social life.

Acknowledgents

I would like to thank my supervisor, Prof. Shigeki Nakauchi, for his guidance in my studies and numerous other matters and for giving me a chance to work at the Visual Perception and Cognition Laboratory. I had an unforgettable time and experience during eight years in his great laboratory. I would also like to extend my gratitude to Assoc. Prof. Tetsuto Minami, who gave me invaluable comments and warm encouragement. I also would like to express my appreciation to other teachers, including Assist. Prof. Kyoko Hine and Assist. Prof. Hiroshi Higashi, at Kyoto University for their expertise. I am also indebted to Prof. Bruno Laeng and Dr. Liao Hsin-I, who gave me invaluable comments and suggestions.

I would like to thank our laboratory stff, Yuki Kawai, and ex-laboratory staff, Kanae Miyazawa, for their professional and scientific advice and administrative support. I also would like to express my gratitude to all our laboratory members for helping me out in my work.

Finally, I greatly appreciate the support of my family.

Contents

1	Intr	oduction 1
	1.1	Face perception
		1.1.1 Face detection and its mechanism $\ldots \ldots 2$
		1.1.2 Face perception model $\ldots \ldots 3$
	1.2	Face pareidolia
		1.2.1 Perception model $\ldots \ldots \ldots$
		1.2.2 Relationship to other perception
	1.3	Approaches
	1.4	Overview
2	Ten	poral dynamics of the face pareidolia 10
	2.1	Introduction
	2.2	Materials and methods
		2.2.1 Participants
		2.2.2 Stimuli
		2.2.3 Procedure
		2.2.4 EEG-recording
		2.2.5 Data acquisition $\ldots \ldots \ldots$
	2.3	Results
		2.3.1 Behavioral results
		2.3.2 Event-related potential
		2.3.3 Face inversion effect index
		2.3.4 Correlation analysis $\ldots \ldots 25$
	2.4	Discussion
		2.4.1 Behavior
		2.4.2 P1 Component

		2.4.3	N170 Component	28
		2.4.4	N250 Component	28
		2.4.5	Correlation	-0 29
		2.4.6	Limitation	29
		2.4.7	Conclusions	- 0 30
3	Cat	egoriz	ation process of the face pareidolia	31
Ŭ	3.1	Introd	uction	31
	0.1	3.1.1		31
		3.1.2	Perceptual categorization	32
		3.1.3	Fast periodic visual stimulation	32
		3.1.4	Overview	34
	3.2	Mater	ials and methods	35
	0.2	3.2.1	Participants	35
		3.2.2	Stimuli	35
		3.2.3	Procedure	35
		3.2.4	EEG-recording	36
		3.2.5	Analysis	38
	3.3	Result	ў ўS	40
		3.3.1	Behavior	40
		3.3.2	Frequency-domain	42
	3.4	Discus	ssion	47
		3.4.1	Frequency domain	47
		3.4.2	Conclusions	49
4	Pur	oillarv	response to face pareidolia	50
_	4.1	Introd	uction	50
	4.2	Mater	ials and methods	51
		4.2.1	Participants	51
		4.2.2	Stimuli	51
		4.2.3	Procedure	52
		4.2.4	Pupillary response recording	53
		4.2.5	Analysis	53
	4.3	Result	~ jS	54
		4.3.1	Behavior	54

		4.3.2	Pupillary response	55	
	4.4	Discus	ssion	59	
		4.4.1	Perception in behavioral indexes	59	
		4.4.2	Dilation peak amplitude difference between conditions	59	
		4.4.3	Dilation amplitude differences after stimulus onset	60	
		4.4.4	Pupillary response on pareidolia	61	
		4.4.5	Conclusions	61	
5	Fac	e-like j	perception effects on preference	62	
	5.1	Introd	luction	62	
	5.2	Mater	ials and methods	63	
		5.2.1	Participants	63	
		5.2.2	Stimuli	63	
		5.2.3	Procedure	64	
		5.2.4	Analysis	66	
	5.3	Result	58	66	
		5.3.1	Face-likeness score	66	
		5.3.2	Preference selectivity rate	67	
		5.3.3	Correlation between the preference and the face-like score	68	
	5.4	Discus	ssion \ldots	70	
6	Cor	onclusions			
	6.1	Face-l	ikeness perception dynamics	72	
	6.2	Botto	m-up and Top-down process in face pareidolia	73	
	6.3	Future	e works	74	
R	efere	nces		75	

List of Figures

1.1	The Arcimboldo paintings	2
1.2	Functional model for face recognition proposed by Bruce & Young	3
1.3	The face perception model of $Haxby(2000)$	5
2.1	Example stimuli and procedure	14
2.2	Behavioral response	17
2.3	The grand average of ERP waveforms	21
2.4	The peak amplitude of each ERP components	22
2.5	The inversion effect index for peak amplitude of each ERPs	24
2.6	Correlation map between the FII and the face-likeness score	26
3.1	The example stimuli and procedure	37
3.2	Behavioral response	41
3.3	Baseline-subtracted amplitude spectra for face-irrelevant task	43
3.4	Baseline-subtracted amplitude spectra for face-relevant task $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	44
3.5	Sum of baseline-corrected amplitudes representing the common response	45
3.6	Sum of baseline-corrected amplitudes representing the selective response	46
4.1	Example of stimuli	52
4.2	The stimulus presentation procedure in the experiment	53
4.3	Results of behavioral analyses	54
4.4	The pupil response of each stimulus type at each task $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	55
4.5	The pupil dilation peak amplitude and the difference between its peaks of each	
	task	57
4.6	The average pupil dilation response of each stimulus type at each task	58
5.1	Example of stimuli	64
5.2	The procedure of the preference task	65

5.3	The procedure of the face-likeness evaluation task	65
5.4	Results of the face-likeness evaluation	67
5.5	Results of the preference selectivity	68
5.6	Correlation between the preference and the face-like score in the upright orientation	69
5.7	Correlation between the preference and the face-like score in the inverted orien-	
	tation	69

Chapter 1

Introduction

The purpose of this thesis is to clarify the representation in the brain involved in the face pareidolia phenomenon, which is an illusion of face perception, by psychological assessment, electroencephalogram (EEG), and pupil diameter measurements. In particular, we focus on the difficult in the brain and behavior between before and after the face pareidolia phenomenon. Movies and beautiful scenes made with high elaborate CG look real; however, the human face made with sophisticated CG feels unnatural. Human face perception is special, and it can process detailed information compared with other object perception. Such high face perception ability is prominent in the perceptual aspect and the cognitive/memory aspect.

Nevertheless, this high face perception ability also affects objects. For example, the Arcimboldo painting shown in Figure 1.1 has a face composed of objects other than the face, such as vegetables, fruits, and chicken. It is difficult to find a face when the painting is upside down, but it is easy to find a face when the painting is upright. The face is easily identified if the face is found in an upright orientation, but it is difficult to be identified if it is found in an upside-down orientation. If the face is found even once, it will stand out, and it will be difficult to pay attention to objects other than the face. The findings show that our behavior for this painting has changed after finding the face.



Figure 1.1: The Arcimboldo paintings.

1.1 Face perception

Faces are the most important visual stimuli for social communication. The face is in itself just one of the visual objects; however, it has a socially important meaning and coveys various information. For example, when humans see each other's faces, personal information can be read immediately, and emotions can be understood from facial expression and color. The most popular form of animal communication is the revealing of characteristic body parts and natural movements. For humans, this information is gathered in the face. Accordingly, face perception becomes a specialized ability for humans because of the existence of specialized brain areas, which are specific to the face and the innate properties of face perception. Fantz et al. identified the innate properties of face perception [1] [2] [3] [4], and thereafter, the innateness of face perception has been studied extensively. Goren et al. compared the face arrangement condition, the face shape without facial pattern condition, and the correct facial pattern condition in infants' study, and they showed that infants preferred the correct facial pattern condition [5]. Simion et al. suggested that newborns preferred "top-heavy" stimuli, and such bias may account for neonatal face preference [6]; the findings indicate that "topheavy" arrangements (which gather information at the top), rather than the specific parts such as eves, nose, and mouth, are essential. The pattern of "top-heavy," which shows preference even for newborns, is the basis of face perception.

1.1.1 Face detection and its mechanism

As described above, the face is an extraordinary visual stimulus for humans. It is just one of the visual objects, but it has socially important meanings and conveys various information such as personal identification, facial expressions, and age. In order to recognize a face, it is necessary to

perceive the whole face rather than identify each facial part separately. The process to perceive this whole face is classified as "configural processing" / "holistic processing." "Featural processing," a process opposite to this whole process, conducts to perceive individual parts. Configural processing has two stages: the first-order and second-order processes. According to Maurer et al., the first-order process is to perform face detection, and the second-order process is to distinguish the small difference in face arrangement and perform face discrimination.

The first-order and second-order processes of configural processing are described in detail as follows. The first-order process is to detect the face from the correct arrangement of eyes, nose, and mouth, and this function is sensitive for newborns [5]. Most importantly, in this first-order process, the elements used for face detection are face arrangement rather than eyes, nose, and mouth features. The pareidolia phenomenon described in the following sections is considered to be caused by face detection in this first-order process. The second-order process is to distinguish individual faces based on subtle differences in the arrangement of eyes, nose, and mouth on each face. Thus, personal identification is possible even if the hairstyle changes.

1.1.2 Face perception model

Bruce & Young(1986) proposed a functional model for the processing of various information obtained from faces (Figure 1.2) [7]. This model is a relatively old functional model for face perception, and its validity has been discussed in several studies. However, it is still widely cited as a model for the basic processing of face perception.



Figure 1.2: Functional model for face recognition proposed by Bruce & Young(1986)[7](Calder & Young(2005) [8]).

This model assumes that a continuous processing path is followed until the name is finally searched after the face is perceived, and the processing is classified into the following four steps.

- 1. Encoring of visual information: allowing invariant structural properties of the face to be perceived independently of variations in orientation, expression, and context.
- 2. Face recognition units: comparison of this perceptual information with memory representations of previously seen faces.
- 3. Person identity nodes: associating these representations with identity specific semantic information about known individuals.
- 4. Name generation

First, when a face is perceived, visual processing based on image analysis is performed. In addition to this analysis of information used for facial expression recognition and speech recognition, the "expression-independent description" used to identify an individual is performed. It is important that the face can be recognized as a person even if the expression and face orientation change with age and situation. It is considered that the "expressionindependent description" formed through the structural encoding hypothesis supports this cognitive behavior. In the face recognition unit process, the perceived information is compared with the memory representation of the face. It is assumed that the description formed in the previous structural encoding process is stored in the face recognition unit. The judgment for known faces is conducted by determining the similarity between the stored information and the perceived information. Subsequently, the process can access "the person identity node," stored information for identifying an individual. Finally, the person is identified via the name generation.

In addition, the Bruce & Young [7] model has been validated by the neuropsychological model developed by Haxby et al. [9]. They proposed a hierarchical model that is divided into a core system and an extended system. The core system is composed of occipitotemporal regions in the extrastriate visual cortex that mediates the visual analysis of faces. The extended system comprises of regions from neural systems related to other cognitive functions.

They proposed that two classes of face perception operations are kept distinct within the core system. One is a class that captures the "invariant features" for identification, and the other is a class that captures the "changeable features," such as expression and eye gaze changes. The latter processing class is activated even if the invariant information is activated by changeable information of the face. The brain regions responsible for both systems are

described in Figure 1.3. First, the outline and the edges of the face are encoded in the inferior occipital gyri; the individual information is integrated, while the "invariant information" is integrated into both the lateral fusiform and superior temporal sulcal region. The "changeable information" is input to the superior temporal sulcus and is then processed. The functions of these regions correspond to the structural coding process in Bruce & Young' s face recognition model [7]. With this function, morphological features of faces and expressions are encoded, and appropriate representations are generated so that the extended system can process them. Moreover, DeGelder et al. proposed the subcortical system in addition to the core system and the extended system [10]. In this system, facial information from the retina is transmitted to both the superior colliculus and the amygdala via the thalamus, and this process has been termed as an automatic processing route. It is mainly considered to be a function that relies on low spatial frequency information to detect a face and direct visual attention to the face [11]. Therefore, it is called the unconscious reaction to the face and is to adjust to the subsequent cortical pathway processing. Thus, in addition to the conventional face recognition models, the mechanism of facial recognition processing is gradually being clarified by neuroscientific evidence obtained by the recently developed brain activity measurement technology.



Figure 1.3: The face perception model of Haxby(2000)[9](refer from Calder & Young(2005)[8]).

1.2 Face pareidolia

Humans have an excellent ability to face perception. For example, even a casual pattern, such as a stain on the ceiling or a cloud, may appear like a face. The phenomenon, i.e., seeing objects as a face, is called pareidolia. Notably, the phenomenon where humans tend to see faces in non-face objects is called Face Pareidolia. However, the detailed mechanisms of this phenomenon have not been clarified.

Originally, the Pareidolia phenomenon is a kind of psychological phenomenon that refers to "a phenomenon that is considered meaning different from its original meaning in meaningless patterns, landscapes, and objects." In general, even when this phenomenon occurs, the perception that the object has been misrecognized is maintained and experienced even if the consciousness is clear.

1.2.1 Perception model

The fundamental cognitive mechanism of the pareidolia phenomenon is based on the face perception process. When humans see an object, they unconsciously judge whether it is a human face or not. This ability to recognize a face is a high-level recognition function of humans. In face perception, our brain conducts featural processing that recognizes from facial elements such as "eyes, nose, and mouth" and holistic processing that recognizes from the arrangement of the facial elements. In particular, holistic processing is related to the pareidolia phenomenon [12]. This phenomenon depends on the face arrangement rather than the face element. Therefore, this phenomenon is considered a relatively low-level cognitive process. However, recently, it has been thought that this phenomenon is due to the high-level cognitive process that occurs because of the influence of the top-down process [13]. Liu et al. found that the pareidolia phenomenon occurred even when random noise images did not have facial features; the activation of the occipital region was associated with face perception, and the prefrontal cortex was related to high-level cognitive functions such as executive function.

A few studies suggest the inferior occipital gyri and the right fusiform face area are associated with the face pareidolia in the neural pathway of the pareidolia mechanism [13] [14]. It has been demonstrated that stimulating these regions (face-selective regions) in the left or right hemisphere with TMS has made face categorization difficult [15] [16]. It is conceivable that face categorization is performed in these areas. These studies suggest that the categorization process of perceptual stimuli requires identification (providing different responses to stimuli belonging to different categories) and generalization (providing similar responses to different stimuli in the same category) [17]. Generalization processing, not identification processing of categorization processing, contributes to the pareidolia phenomenon. Because the categorization process is robust against the classification of different categories, and it is conceivable that the classification of different categories, such as face and object categories, is performed correctly. On the other hand, since the generalization process is to determine whether the perceived object belongs to the category learned so far, it is expected that the ambiguous information such as face-likeness will be classified into the face category by the generalization.

The prefrontal cortex plays an essential role in category representation and generalization. Single-unit studies in monkeys indicate that PFC neurons encode abstract behavioral rules [18] [19] [20] and are involved in context-sensitive decision making [21], and PFC processes the abstract rules beyond specific details of sensory and motor outputs and generalizes these rules in new contexts [22]. This feature allows PFC to perform essential functions in category learning and generalization. As mentioned above, PFC has been shown to have an essential contribution to the pareidolia phenomenon, suggesting that generalized processing has dramatically contributed to the occurrence of the pareidolia phenomenon.

1.2.2 Relationship to other perception

This pareidolia phenomenon affects not only visual illusions but also our behavior. Takahashi et al. demonstrated that gaze cueing effect and joint attention, which are essential in communication, are caused by this phenomenon [23] [24], and visual detection is increased by this phenomenon [25]. This phenomenon is also known to occur in front of the car. Klatt et al. found that the impression such as "cool" and "cute" to the design of the front of the car affects the behavior of pedestrians [26]. Moreover, Guido et al. showed that advertisements with pareidolic faces are preferred than those without pareidolic faces [27]. Therefore, the pareidolia phenomenon is closely related to our social life, and it has been used in marketing and design for improving the intimacy of objects.

1.3 Approaches

We investigated the neural mechanism of the pareidolia phenomenon using the psychophysical methods, EEG, and Pupillometry. First, we examined the occurrence dynamics of the pareidolia phenomenon using EEG components related to face processing (Chapter 2). We hypothesized that the EEG components could be used to clarify the pareidolia phenomenon mechanism and dynamics since the EEG component contributes to face processing such as latency, featural processing, and holistic processing. Next, because the pareidolia phenomenon might be a special categorization in the face and object categorization process, we focused on the categorization process in the pareidolia phenomenon. Since this categorization process changes not only by bottom-up processing but also by top-down modulation, we investigated the categorization processing of face-likeness from both sides. Subsequently, we clarified the effects of bottom-up processing and top-down modulation of the pareidolia phenomenon using the pupil diameter response (Chapter 4). It has been reported that the pupil diameter response is changed by the Bottom-up processing and Top-down modulation of the face processing, and both sides of the Bottom-up process and Top-down modulation in the pareidolia phenomenon are clarified by pupillometry. In addition, since human faces are known to affect our behavior, it is conceivable that they also affect our behavior when the pareidolia phenomenon occurs. The behavior associated with the pareidolia phenomenon was investigated by psychophysical methods (Chapter 5). By combining these biosignals and behavioral data, we clarified the neural mechanisms of the pareidolia phenomenon and behavioral changes caused by the pareidolia phenomenon.

1.4 Overview

This thesis comprises four studies (Chapter 2–5). First, we present what the pareidolia phenomenon is, how we perceive an object as a face, and the goal and approaches of this study in this chapter. Next, in Chapter 2, we present how the pareidolia phenomenon is processed in our brain using EEG. Then, in Chapters 3, 4, and 5, we present the bottom-up process and top-down modulation for the pareidolia phenomenon. Our main focus in these chapters is the differences in the brain and behavior between before and after the face pareidolia phenomenon. As shown in Chapter 3, we investigated how both aspects of bottom-up processing and top-down modulation contribute to face-likeness perception using EEG. Moreover, as shown in Chapter 4, we investigated the top-down modulation for the pareidolia phenomenon using pupil response. Furthermore, as shown in Chapter 5, we investigated how the pareidolia phenomenon effects on preference. Finally, we summarize the outcomes of the four studies in the final chapter.

Chapter 2

Temporal dynamics of the face pareidolia

2.1 Introduction

Faces are the most important visual stimuli for social communication. When humans see each other's faces, personal information can be read immediately, and emotions can be understood from facial expression and color. In this way, face perception is valuable for humans. In addition, people tend to find faces unconsciously, even in objects (e.g., ceiling stains, clouds in the sky, etc.). Even infants preferentially watch face-like objects [28]. This phenomenon is called "face pareidolia," and is a kind of visual illusion, not a hallucination. How, then, do humans perceive face-likeness in non-face objects?

Brain functions related to face processing have been studied using neuroimaging, including functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) and electroencephalography (EEG). Whereas fMRI has high spatial resolution and identifies the brain areas related to face processing [29] [9] [13], EEG has high temporal resolution and can be used to examine dynamic processes [30]. Some EEG-based face studies have also utilized event-related potentials (ERP); some ERP components have been reported to be related to face processing. P1 is an early positive component, peaking at around 100 ms, which is sometimes larger in response to faces than objects [31] [32] [33] [34]. A more face-sensitive response was found at the level of the N170, peaking at approximately 160 ms over the occipito-temporal sites [30] [35]. The N170 component is larger for faces than for all other objects, especially in the right hemisphere [30] [35]. Moreover, this component is sensitive not only to human faces, but also to schematic faces [36] [37]. It is therefore considered to be intimately involved in face processing. Fur-

thermore, the N170 differs between hemispheres [30] [38] [39]; the amplitude is larger in the left hemisphere for featural processing (eyes, nose, and mouth), and in the right hemisphere for configure/holistic processing [40] [9] [39]. In addition, the N250, peaking at 250–300 ms, subsequent to the N170 component, is sensitive to face identity [41] [42].

Conversely, face inversion effects have been well studied for specific face recognition. This phenomenon disrupts face recognition when face stimuli are inverted 180°. Moreover, the disruption effect is larger for face stimuli than for other object stimuli [43]. There is evidence that configural/holistic [44] [45] processing of human faces is disrupted by inversion [44] [46] [47] [48]. Reed et al. [49] reported slower reaction times (RTs) and higher error rates for decisions about inverted faces than for those about upright faces. This effect is observed in brain activity as well as in behavior [30]. The N170 and P1 components are larger with presentation of inverted face stimuli, but not with that of inverted object stimuli [50] [32]. Some previous studies have reported that the amplitudes of the P1 and N170 components increased and the latencies were delayed with presentation of inverted face images, as compared to upright face images, which suggested that the P1 component is an early indicator of endogenous processing of visual stimuli, and that the N170 component reflects an early stage of configural/holistic encoding, and is sensitive to changes in facial structure [32]. In addition, some studies have suggested that upright faces are dominated by holistic processing, and inverted faces by featural processing [39]. For example, Rossion et al. [51] [52] [53] reported that N170 inversion effects disrupted processing of configural/holistic information. This effect is considered as a marker for special processing of upright face stimuli in the brain [54] [55]. Moreover, another study suggested that the inversion effect of N170 amplitude is category-sensitive [56]. These results suggest that the inversion effect is a marker for face-like processing.

Other previous studies investigating holistic and featural processing during face processing of inverted faces, using realistic and schematic images, reported that the N170 amplitude increased when inverted realistic face images were presented [41]. Conversely, the N170 amplitude decreased when inverted schematic face images were presented. This study theorized that schematic faces that did not have enough featural information were recognizable by holistic processing when presented upright. However, when the images were inverted, the N170 amplitude was reduced due to preferential featural processing instead of configural/holistic processing. This suggested that individuals perform holistic processing in response to upright faces and featural processing in response to inverted faces.

Facial inversion effect studies have investigated face-like objects as well as faces. 1 study investigated holistic processing using face images; Arcimboldo paintings consisting of vegetables, fruits, and books; and object images (e.g., a car and a house) [39]. In the upright stimuli,

Arcimboldo paintings and face stimuli induced larger N170 amplitudes in the right hemisphere than did object stimuli. In contrast, in the left hemisphere, N170 amplitudes differed between processing of Arcimboldo paintings and face stimuli. This suggested that the right hemisphere is related to holistic processing, and the left hemisphere to feature processing.

Previous studies also suggested that face-like objects were processed in the N170 component in the right hemisphere, through holistic processing [39] [57]. Furthermore, Churches et al. [58]

suggested that the amplitude of the N170 component in response to objects is affected by the face-likeness of the objects. In addition, previous studies also suggested that the P1 component is associated with face-likeness processing. Dering et al. [59] reported that the amplitude of the P1 component was modulated in a face-sensitive fashion-independent cropping or morphing. This means that P1 is sensitive to face processing. However, it is unclear whether the P1 and N170 components contribute to face-likeness judgment. Additionally, although these studies investigated how facial features and positions of facial parts are processed, how and when face-likeness perception is processed was not known. According to Sagiv and Bentin [41], Churches et al. [58] Caharel et al. [39], the N170 component may reflect face-likeness, and because the N170 component reflects an early stage of structure coding and is sensitive to face-like stimuli, such as Arcimboldo paintings.

In this study, we investigated whether the inversion effect index of the N170 component actually reflected face-likeness, by observing the correlation between the ERP components and behavioral reports of face-likeness. We expected that correlation between the inversion effect index of N170 amplitude and face-like scores would be found. Furthermore, P1 and N250 correlate with face-like scores, similar to the N170 component. Taken together, this study investigated face-likeness judgment as reflected by ERP components, as well as how and when face-like objects are processed. The purpose of this study was to reveal which ERP components contribute to face-likeness judgment based on correlation between face-likeness evaluation scores and the inversion effect of each ERP component.

2.2 Materials and methods

2.2.1 Participants

Twenty-one healthy, right-handed volunteers (age: 19–37 years, 3 female) with normal or corrected-to-normal vision participated in the experiment. Informed written consent was obtained from participants after procedural details had been explained. The Committee for Human Research of Toyohashi University of Technology approved experimental procedures.

2.2.2 Stimuli

The stimuli in each category are shown in Figure 2.1. There were 4 categories of stimuli, including natural human faces (without glasses or make-up, and with a neutral expression), Arcimboldo paintings, insects (animate category), and cars (inanimate category). The face category was selected from the FACES database (Max Planck Institute for Human Development, Berlin; [60]). Each category consisted of 6 kinds of stimuli. In the face category, we presented equal numbers of male and female faces. Only faces with neutral expression were chosen (interrater agreement N 0.90, as published for the reference sample). The upright orientation of the insect category was defined as erecting a higher face-likeness evaluation score in the image evaluation experiment. All photographs were converted to gray scale, and mean luminance and size were equalized with Adobe Photoshop $\mbox{\sc CS2}$ software. All stimuli were 220 \times 247 pixels (visual angle 9.7 to 11.6°). Each stimulus was presented in 2 different orientations, either upright or inverted 180°.

2.2.3 Procedure

After electrode-cap placement, participants were seated in a light- and sound-attenuated room, at a viewing distance of 60 cm from a computer monitor. Stimulus presentation was controlled by a ViSaGe system (Cambridge Research System, Rochester, UK) and presented on a CRT monitor (EIZO, Flexscan-T761, graphics resolution 800×600 pixels, frame rate: 100 Hz). Stimuli were displayed at the center of the screen on a light gray background. At the start of each trial, a fixation point appeared in the center of the screen for 500 ms, followed by the presentation of the test stimulus for 500 ms. The inter-trial interval was randomized between 1,000 and 1,500 ms. Participants performed face-like evaluation tasks and provided their responses by pressing 1 of 7 keys on a numeric keyboard with their right or left index finger; right or left was counterbalanced across blocks (right to left or left to right). They rated face-likeness on a 7-point scale from 1 (non-face-like) to 7 (most face-like) and were requested to respond within 3,000 ms. Participants were instructed to maintain eye gaze fixation on the center of the screen throughout the trial and respond as accurately and as quickly as possible. Participants performed 96 trials per condition (6 stimuli in each category repeated 16 times in each orientation). Four blocks of 192 trials (4 categories \times 6 stimuli \times 2 orientations \times 4 times) were presented in a pseudo-random order. Thus, participants performed a total of 768 trials.



Figure 2.1: Example stimuli for each category and the timeline of stimulus presentation during a single trial. The face category was selected from the FACES database (Max Planck Institute for Human Development, Berlin; [60]. Only faces with neutral expression were chosen (interrater agreement N 0.90, as published for the reference sample). The car category was selected as representing artificial objects, and the insect category was selected as representing natural objects. The Arcimboldo paintings were selected for observing holistic and feature processing, as described by Caharel et al. (2013) [39] and Rossion et al. (2011) [35]. Images for each condition were randomly presented, and the participants performed the face-likeness evaluation task.

2.2.4 EEG-recording

EEG data were recorded with 64 active Ag-AgCl sintered electrodes mounted on an elastic cap according to the extended 10–20 system and amplified by a BioSemi ActiveTwo amplifier (BioSemi; Amsterdam, The Netherlands). Electrooculography (EOG) was recorded from additional channels (the infraorbital region of right eye, and the outer canthus of the right and left eye). Both the EEG and the EOG were sampled at 512 Hz.

2.2.5 Data acquisition

Behavioral data

Scores (face-likeness) and reaction times (RTs) were computed for each condition and submitted to repeated ANOVAs with category (faces, Arcimboldo paintings, insects, cars), and orientation (upright vs. inverted) as within-subject factors.

EEG data

For ERP analysis, a 1–30 Hz digital band-pass filter was applied offline to continuous EEG data after re-referencing the data to an average reference using the EEGLAB toolbox [61]. The continuous EEG data were divided into 900 ms epochs (-100 to +800 ms from stimulus onset) and baseline corrected (-100 to 0 ms). Correction for artifacts, including ocular movements, was performed using Independent Component Analysis (ICA) (runica algorithm) as implemented in the EEGLAB toolbox. ICA decomposition was derived from all trials concatenated across conditions. Ocular artifacts were removed from each average by ICA decomposition [62]. Subsequently, 4 methods of artifact rejection were performed. First, artifact epochs were rejected based on extreme values in the EEG channel, \pm 80 μ V. Next, artifacts based on linear trend/ variance using the EEGLAB toolbox (max slope $[\mu V/epoch]$: 50; R-squared limit: 0.3) were rejected. Artifact epochs were also rejected using probability methods (single- and all-channel limits: 5 SD) and kurtosis methods (single- and all-channel limits: 5 SD), again using the EEGLAB toolbox. Grand-mean ERP waveforms were visually assessed and peak amplitude and latency were extracted. Peak amplitude and latency of P1, N170, and N250 components were extracted at a maximum amplitude value between 80 and 130 ms for the P1 and at the minimum amplitude value between 130 and 200 ms for the N170 and at a minimum amplitude value between 220 and 300 ms for the N250, for different pairs of occipito-temporal electrodes in the left and right hemispheres: 3 left hemisphere electrodes (P5, P9, PO7) and 3 right hemisphere electrodes (P6, P10, PO8). Moreover, the topographies were calculated to assess which

electrode optimized the analysis in this study. The topographies were calculated by averaging across 4 categories and the relevant time window of each ERP component. Amplitude and latency of the P1, N170, and N250 were submitted to separate repeated-measure ANOVAs with category, orientation, and hemisphere as within-subject factors and post-hoc analysis was performed by using Bonferroni method.

Inversion effect

We calculated the inversion effect index using the following equation 2.1. Each ERP component was assigned to the formula [63] [64]. The inversion effect index showed differences in N170 amplitudes between the upright and inverted conditions divided by the sum of the 2 conditions. If a normal face inversion effect occurs, this index should be negative. Each inversion effect index was evaluated by means of a 1-sample t-test to determine whether the effect was significantly different from 0. Furthermore, the inversion effect index values were computed for each condition and submitted to repeated ANOVAs with hemisphere and category as within-subject factors (Figure 2.5).

$$FII = \frac{|Amp_{Upright}| - |Amp_{Inverted}|}{|Amp_{Upright}| + |Amp_{Inverted}|}$$
(2.1)

Correlation analysis

Pearson's correlation analysis was performed between the inversion effect index for each ERP component and the mean face-like score (the mean between upright and inverted score) using the robust correlation toolbox [65]. The toolbox automatically implements the Bonferroni adjustment for multiple comparisons for each test and provides bootstrapped confidence intervals for the correlations themselves. For the inversion effect index, we calculated the value from each category for each ERP component in each participant.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Behavioral results

Participants responded more strongly to faces than to images in other categories (Figure 2.2). There were main effects of Category $[F(3, 60) = 204.255, p < 0.001, \eta^2 = 0.91]$ and Orientation $[F(1, 20) = 78.166, p < 0.001, \eta^2 = 0.80]$, and an interaction between these factors $[F(3, 60) = 15.660, p < 0.001, \eta^2 = 0.44]$. This interaction showed a significant effect of Category for both

orientations [Upright: $F(3, 60) = 193.770, p < 0.001, \eta^2 = 0.90$, Inverted: F(3, 60) = 6.480, p = $0.001, \eta^2 = 0.24$]. For Orientation, the scores of all categories showed a significant difference between upright and inverted orientations (p < 0.001, for all). For both orientations, scores were higher for faces than for other image categories (respectively, p < 0.001, p < 0.001, and p < 0.0010.001, for both orientations) and the scores for Arcimboldo paintings were higher than those for insects and cars (respectively, p < 0.001 and p < 0.001, for both orientations). However, there was no significant difference between the car and insect categories. This interaction showed a significant effect of Orientation for all categories [Face : $F(1, 20) = 441.970, p < 0.001, \eta^2 =$ 0.95, Arcimboldo: $F(1, 20) = 431.200, p < 0.001, n^2 = 0.95$, Insect: $F(1, 20) = 71.580, p < 0.001, n^2 = 0.95$ $0.001, \eta^2 = 0.78$ and Car: $F(1, 20) = 63.650, p < 0.001, \eta^2 = 0.76$]. Moreover, participants responded more quickly to faces to other types of images. A main effect was found for Category $[F(3,60) = 32.634, p < 0.001, \eta^2 = 0.62]$ and Orientation $[F(1,20) = 5.010, p = 0.037, \eta^2 = 0.010, p = 0.000, \eta^2 = 0$ 0.20]. Moreover, an interaction was found between Category and Orientation [F(3, 60)] = $5.703, p = 0.002, \eta^2 = 0.22$]. This interaction showed a significant effect of Orientation for face category $[F(1,20) = 66.890, p < 0.001, \eta^2 = 0.77]$ and Arcimboldo paintings category $[F(1,20) = 49.820, p < 0.001, \eta^2 = 0.71]$. This Category × Orientation interaction revealed that the response time to faces and Arcimboldo paintings was delayed for inverted orientations as compared to upright orientations (p < 0.001). Furthermore, this interaction showed a significant effect of Category for upright orientation $[F(3, 60) = 85.570, p < 0.001, \eta^2 = 0.81].$ Participants responded more quickly to faces than to other image categories in the upright orientation (respectively, p < 0.001, p < 0.001, and p < 0.001). However, there were no significant differences between Arcimboldo vs. Insect, Arcimboldo vs. Car, and Insect vs. Car.



Figure 2.2: (A) Each bar indicates the mean face-likeness score for each category in the upright (fill) and inverted (no fill) orientations. (B) Each bar indicates the mean reaction times for each category in the upright (fill) and inverted (no fill) orientation.

2.3.2 Event-related potential

P1 Component

Figures 2.2, 2.3 show the topographies and the ERP waveforms in the 6 channels (Left: PO7, P9, P5; Right: PO8, P10, P6). Clear peaks of P1, N170, and N250 are observed. ANOVAs of P1 amplitudes showed a main effect for Category $[F(3, 60) = 2.935, p = 0.035, \eta^2 = 0.13]$ and Orientation $[F(1,20) = 22.751, p < 0.001, \eta^2 = 0.53]$. The main effect of Category indicated that P1 amplitude for the insect category was smaller for Arcimboldo and car categories (respectively, p < 0.001 and p = 0.005). The main effect of Orientation revealed that the P1 amplitude was larger for inverted orientations than for upright orientation (p < 0.001). ANOVAs for P1 latency showed a main effect for Category $[F(3, 60) = 8.565, p < 0.001, \eta^2 = 0.30]$, Orientation $[F(1, 20) = 13.554, p = 0.001, \eta^2 = 0.40]$, Hemisphere $[F(1, 20) = 11.514, p = 0.003, \eta^2 = 0.37]$, and an interaction between Category × Orientation $[F(3, 60) = 7.583, p < 0.001, \eta^2 = 0.28].$ This interaction showed af significant effect of Orientation for the face category [F(1, 20)] $23.44, p < 0.001, \eta^2 = 0.54$ and the car category $[F(1, 20) = 5.11, p = 0.035, \eta^2 = 0.20]$. Moreover, this interaction showed a significant effect of Category for both orientations [Upright: $F(3, 60) = 6.37, p = 0.001, \eta^2 = 0.24$, Inverted: $F(3, 60) = 11.31, p < 0.001, \eta^2 = 0.36$]. The P1 latency in response to upright orientations was shorter for the face category than for the Arcimboldo paintings category (p = 0.031), and the P1 latency in response to inverted orientations was shorter for the insects category than for other categories (respectively, face: p = 0.017, Arcimboldo paintings: p = 0.003, and car: p < 0.001).

N170 Component

ANOVAs for N170 amplitude showed a main effect for Category $[F(3,60) = 18.613, p < 0.001, \eta^2 = 0.48]$, Hemisphere $[F(1,20) = 5.907, p = 0.025, \eta^2 = 0.23]$ and Hemisphere × Orientation $[F(1,20) = 7.777, p = 0.011, \eta^2 = 0.28]$. This Hemisphere × Orientation interaction revealed that the N170 amplitude in inverted orientation was larger for the right hemisphere than for the left hemisphere (p = 0.012). In addition, a three-way interaction was found among hemisphere, category, and orientation $[F(3,60) = 5.464, p = 0.002, \eta^2 = 0.22]$. In the right hemisphere, the Category × Orientation interaction was significant $[F(3,60) = 4.24, p = 0.009, \eta^2 = 0.17]$, as the N170 amplitude for inverted orientation was larger for the face category than for other categories (respectively, Arcimboldo paintings: p < 0.001, car: p < 0.001 and insect: p < 0.001, and N170 amplitude for inverted orientation was larger for the insect category than for the Arcimboldo paintings category (p = 0.011), with no statisti-

cally significant difference found between the insect and car categories (p < 1.000) [Simple main effect of Category effect: $F(3, 60) = 24.010, p < 0.001, \eta^2 = 0.54$]. However, for upright orientations, no significant Category effect was observed $[F(3, 60) = 1.96, p = 0.1290, \eta^2 = 0.09].$ Furthermore, the N170 amplitude for the face category was larger in the inverted orientation than in the upright orientation (p = 0.029). In the left hemisphere, no significant interaction was observed $[F(3,60) = 1.14, p = 0.3420, \eta^2 = 0.05]$. ANOVA results for the N170 latency showed a main effect for Orientation $[F(1, 20) = 17.947, p < 0.001, \eta^2 = 0.47],$ Category $[F(1.855, 37.100) = 23.194, p < 0.001, \eta^2 = 0.54]$, and Category × Orientation $[F(3, 60) = 13.996, p < 0.001, \eta^2 = 0.41]$. This Category × Orientation interaction showed a significant effect of Category for both orientations [Upright: $F(3, 60) = 39.35, p < 0.001, \eta^2 = 0.66,$ Inverted: $F(3, 60) = 8.64, p < 0.001, \eta^2 = 0.30$]. This interaction revealed that the N170 latency in response to upright orientations was shorter for the face category than for other categories (p < 0.001), and the N170 latency in response to inverted orientations was more delayed for the car category than for the other categories (p < 0.001). Furthermore, latency in response to face category in the upright orientation was shorter than for the inverted orientation (p < 0.001), and the latency in response to the car category in the upright orientation was shorter than for the inverted orientation (p < 0.001).

N250 Component

ANOVA results for the N250 amplitude showed a main effect for hemisphere $[F(1,20) = 4.837, p = 0.040, \eta^2 = 0.20]$ and category $[F(2.220, 44.394) = 3.639, p = 0.030, \eta^2 = 0.15]$. The N250 amplitude was larger for the right hemisphere than for the left hemisphere (p < 0.001). In addition, there was a significant interaction between Category and Hemisphere $[F(3, 60) = 3.649, p = 0.017, \eta^2 = 0.15]$ and between Category and Orientation $[F(3, 60) = 3.852, p = 0.014, \eta^2 = 0.16]$. The Category × Orientation interaction showed a significant Category effect for inverted orientation $[F(3, 60) = 6.16, p = 0.001, \eta^2 = 0.24]$. The N250 amplitude for inverted orientation was larger for the car category than for the Arcimboldo paintings and insect categories (p < 0.05). Moreover, this interaction showed an orientation effect for face and car categories [Face: $F(1, 20) = 7.91, p = 0.011, \eta^2 = 0.28$ and Car: $F(1, 20) = 5.85, p = 0.028, \eta^2 = 0.22]$. The N250 amplitude for the face category was larger for the upright orientation and the N250 amplitude for the car category was larger for the inverted orientation than for the upright orientation. The Category × Hemisphere interaction showed a significant Category effect for the right hemisphere $[F(3, 60) = 3.74, p = 0.016, \eta^2 = 0.16]$. The N250 amplitude in the right hemisphere was larger for the inverted orientation showed a significant Category effect for the right hemisphere $[F(3, 60) = 3.74, p = 0.016, \eta^2 = 0.16]$. The N250 amplitude in the right hemisphere was larger for the inverted orientation showed a significant Category effect for the right hemisphere interaction showed a significant Category effect for the right hemisphere was larger for the inverted orientation than for the upright orientation. The Category × Hemisphere interaction showed a significant Category effect for the right hemisphere interaction showed a significant Category effect for the right hemisphere interaction showed a significant Category effect for the right hemisphere interactio for the car category than for the insect category. Moreover, this interaction showed a Hemisphere effect for the face category. The N250 amplitude for the face category was larger in the inverted orientation than in the upright orientation (p = 0.002). ANOVA results for N250 latency showed no significant effect and interaction.



Figure 2.3: The grand average of ERP waveforms elicited by each category in the upright and inverted orientations at the left and right pooled occipito-temporal electrode sites (waveforms averaged for electrodes P5/P9/PO7, P6/P10/PO8).



Figure 2.4: The peak amplitude of the P1 (Top), N170 (Middle), and N250 component (Bottom) measured at the left and right pooled occipito-temporal electrode sites (averaged for electrodes P5/P9/PO7 and P6/P10/PO8), displayed for 4 categories in the upright (fill) and inverted (no fill) orientations.

2.3.3 Face inversion effect index

P1 Component

The inversion effect index of the P1 component was then compared with a 1-sample t-test against zero, showing a significant index for face category in both hemispheres, Arcimboldo painting category in the right hemisphere, and car category in the left hemisphere (p < 0.05). The P1 component showed a main effect of Category [$F(2.076, 41.510) = 3.709, p = 0.032, \eta^2 = 0.16$]. The inversion effect index was larger for the face category than for the insect and car categories (respectively, p = 0.002 and p = 0.006).

N170 Componet

The inversion effect index of the N170 component was then compared with a 1-sample t-test against zero, showing a significant index for face category and Arcimboldo painting category in the right hemisphere (p < 0.05). For the N170 component, no effect was found for Hemisphere [$F(1, 20) = 0.344, p = 0.564, \eta^2 = 0.02$], Category [$F(3, 60) = 2.372, p = 0.079, \eta^2 = 0.11$], or the interaction between Hemisphere and Category [$F(3, 60) = 2.228, p = 0.094, \eta^2 = 0.10$].

N250 Component

The inversion effect index of the N250 component was then compared with a 1-sample t-test against 0; a significant index for only the car category in the left hemisphere (p < 0.05) was found. The N250 component showed a main effect of Hemisphere [$F(1, 20) = 5.770, p = 0.026, \eta^2 = 0.22$]. The inversion effect index was larger in the right hemisphere than in the left hemisphere. Moreover, there was a significant interaction between Hemisphere and Category [$F(3, 60) = 3.948, p = 0.012, \eta^2 = 0.17$]. This Hemisphere and Category revealed that the inversion effect index in response to car was larger for the right hemisphere than for the left hemisphere (p < 0.05).



Figure 2.5: The inversion effect index for peak amplitude of the P1 (Top), N170 (Middle), and N250 (Bottom) components, measured at the left and right pooled occipito-temporal electrode sites (averaged for electrodes P5/P9/PO7 and P6/P10/PO8) and displayed for 4 categories. correlation

2.3.4 Correlation analysis

We performed a correlation analysis to explore the relationship between the face-like score and the inversion effect index (see Figure 2.6). In the P1 component, a significant correlation was observed between the inversion effect index and face-like score in both hemispheres (left: r = -0.273, p < 0.05, right: r = -0.307, p < 0.05). Furthermore, in the N170 component, a significant correlation was observed between the inversion effect index and face-like score in the right hemisphere (r = -0.282, p < 0.05). In contrast, the N250 components showed no significant correlation. The results indicate that the face-likeness judgment affects early face processing, especially for the right hemisphere. In addition, we also performed a correlation analysis to explore the relationship between the face-like score and raw ERP component (each orientation) or each ERP latency.


Figure 2.6: Correlation map between the inversion effect index and the face-likeness score of P1 (Top), N170 (Middle), and N250 (Bottom) components, calculated for the left (left side) and right (right side) hemispheres. The vertical axis indicates the inversion effect index value, and the horizontal axis indicates the face-likeness scores. Underlines indicate significant correlations.

2.4 Discussion

The present study investigated brain activity reflecting face-likeness and explored the correlation between the face inversion effect and face-like score. Significant correlation was observed for P1 in both hemispheres and N170 in the right hemisphere. These results suggest that facelikeness judgment affects early visual processing. After this processing, face-like objects are processed by holistic processing in the right hemisphere. Furthermore, these results suggest that the face inversion index can be used as indicator of face-likeness in early face processing.

2.4.1 Behavior

Behavioral results showed that face-like scores were reduced in response to inverted objects. Conversely, the scores of human faces in inverted orientations were almost the same as those in upright orientations. Similarly, Reed et al. [49] reported slower RTs and higher error rates for decisions about inverted human faces, compared to those for upright faces. Furthermore,

Itier et al. [66] reported lower error rates of behavioral inversion effects for natural human faces than for other objects, schematic faces, and Mooney faces, two-toned, ambiguous face images. Their results are consistent with our findings that showed that the inversion effect was specific to face processing, as compared with processing of other object categories.

2.4.2 P1 Component

In terms of ERP results, each component (P1, N170, and N250; Figure (2.3) was observed for each category. The P1 amplitude showed an inversion effect in both hemispheres. P1 reflects the processing of low-level physical properties, including contrast, luminance, spatial frequency, and color [50] [41] [32] [39]. However, all stimuli were gray-scale images of equally calibrated luminance in this study. Furthermore, P1 affects holistic face processing [67] [68], and is selective for face parts [30]. These previous studies suggested that P1 is related to configural/holistic and featural processing, and hence, P1 amplitudes for face-like objects were almost the same as the amplitudes for face stimuli. Moreover, the Arcimboldo paintings consist of numerous objects resembling facial parts, with different local contrasts, which may be why the amplitude of the Arcimboldo painting category was higher than for other categories [32]. In addition, the face inversion effect for the P1 amplitude was consistent with the results of Boutsen et al. [30], the P1 component is sensitive to global Boutsen et al. [30]. According to face inversion. Therefore, the inversion effect for P1 appeared in both hemispheres in response to face, Arcimboldo and car categories. However, the inversion effect was not observed for the insect category, because insect stimuli are not dependent on orientation. Thus, the difference in amplitude according to orientation, which is the inversion effect, was not observed for the insect category.

2.4.3 N170 Component

In terms of N170 amplitude, the ANOVA results indicated that the car and insect categories were processed similarly to the face category in the right hemisphere, because there was no difference between these categories for the upright orientation. In the inverted orientation, the amplitude for the face category was larger than for other categories, and the amplitude for the Arcimboldo category was smaller than for other categories. Interestingly enough, this relationship was observed for the inverted orientation in the right hemisphere. We considered that the inverted Arcimboldo category did not contain holistic/configural face information. These results suggested that the Arcimboldo category underwent another form of processing, which was neither face processing nor object processing. In the left hemisphere, we observed no significant difference for either factor. However, the amplitude in response to the objects category was smaller than in response to the face category. These results were consistent with previous studies suggesting that the left hemisphere is specialized for analytic processing of local features of the face Boutsen et al. [35]. Moreover, the face inversion effect for N170 appeared in both hemispheres in response to only the face category. In the face category, the results Itier and Taylor [32], suggesting that the amplitude was were consistent with the study of increased and the latency was delayed by inverted orientation. In the Arcimboldo category, the results were consistent with the study of Caharel et al. [39], suggesting that the amplitude decreased in the right hemisphere and the latency was delayed.

2.4.4 N250 Component

There was a difference in the N250 amplitude between the 2 hemispheres. The N250 component relates to personal detection processing in the right hemisphere [69]. This processing increased in amplitude when observing objects related to the self (e.g. friends, family, self-face), and hence, the amplitude was small in the right hemisphere in our study. In contrast, the amplitude for the left hemisphere was increased when observing familiar objects [70]. Therefore, N250 amplitudes in the left hemisphere were larger in response to faces and cars. Moreover, it may be suspected that the amplitude for the Arcimboldo category was increased because the Arcimboldo paintings resemble human faces. In contrast, the amplitude decreased in response to the insect category, because the insect images in this study were unfamiliar objects. This

component was also reported to have no inversion effect [71], perhaps because orientation processing was already performed at N170. However, the face and car categories showed a lower inversion effect, which can be attributed to the influence of N170.

2.4.5 Correlation

We calculated the correlation between the inversion effect index for each ERP component and the face-like score for each category. Significant correlation for the P1 component was observed in both hemispheres. This correlation suggested that the P1 component reflects facelikeness. Moreover, a significant correlation was observed for the N170 component for the right hemisphere. The configuration of stimuli may have been similar enough to human faces to cause this correlation only in the right hemisphere, suggesting that the P1 component in both hemispheres and the N170 component in the right hemisphere reflect face-likeness. Finally, no significant correlation was observed for the N250 component. However, there was a trend for correlation between the inversion effect index in the N250 and the face-like score in both hemispheres, which suggested that the N250 component is related to face-like processing.

2.4.6 Limitation

The limitations of this study include the low correlation coefficient for each component, although a significant correlation was observed in the P1 and N170 components. The face-like score may have been biased because the stimuli used in this study included only a real face category and 3 face-like categories, without any non-face-like category (e.g., flowers, clocks, and so on). Moreover, the correlation between the P1 inversion effect index and face-like scores could not distinguish between face-like processing and face detection. Additionally, the image of stimuli was difference in spatial frequency. Thus, we cannot deny that P1 components were influenced by spatial frequency. Moreover, recent studies suggested that the N170 component was also influenced by low-level visual information [59] [72]. Thus, N170 components were also influenced by spatial frequency and other low-level visual information. However, a significant Category effect was observed only in the inverted orientation in the 3-factor ANOVA. This amplitude difference between the upright and inverted orientation in this study was caused by inversion of the stimulus orientation. Finally, we did not consider the effect of gender differences in this experiment. Among 21 participants in this study, only 3 were female. We considered that the effect of gender would be small, considering the purpose of this study. However, a recent study suggested that females tend to detect face-ness in objects more than do males [73]. It is possible that our results could have been affected by sex differences.

2.4.7 Conclusions

Previous studies have suggested that face-likeness processing or face-ness detection occurred in the early visual cortex [74]. In this study, by calculating the correlation between the facelikeness evaluation on the stimulus and the inversion effect index of each ERP component, significant correlations were observed in the P1 component and the N170 component. Accordingly, these results suggested that the face-like processing or face-ness detection is performed in the early visual cortex and that these processes affect face-likeness judgment. Accordingly, we considered that face processing and face-like processing consisted of the following steps. Rough face processing, including detecting the existing shapes as eye-like, nose-like, or mouthlike, is performed in the earlier visual stages represented by P1, while detailed face processing is performed in the face detection stages represented by N170. The process of P1 to N170 components in this study may thus reflect face-likeness judgment. Furthermore, these results suggest that the face inversion index can be used as an indicator of face-likeness in early face processing.

Chapter 3

Categorization process of the face pareidolia

3.1 Introduction

3.1.1 Pareidolia

Humans can extract a variety of information from visual stimuli such as faces by identifying individuals immediately by looking at their faces and reading emotions from facial expressions and facial colors. Thus, humans have excellent face recognition ability, and this good face recognition ability works not only on human faces but also on various objects. For example, even a pattern such as a cloud or electric socket may appear like a face. The phenomenon where a non-face object looks like a face is called pareidolia. The pareidolia phenomenon is thought to have developed to instantly determine whether a recognized face is an enemy or a friend. However, the underlying mechanism of the phenomenon is still unclear.

Many studies have explicitly investigated the pareidolia phenomenon to reveal the brain mechanism. However, based on the findings in these studies, it is difficult to estimate what causes this phenomenon because the pareidolia phenomenon has been induced in different situations from the real world. In a real-life circumstance, typical human adults find a face-like object automatically, i.e., without the intention to do so and without being able to suppress this visual detection process. In other words, the face-like object is detected as early as the face is. The pareidolia phenomenon is considered the innate nature of face processing [1] [2] [3] [4]. Goren et al. compared the face arrangement condition, face shape without the facial pattern condition, and correct facial pattern condition in infants study, and they found that infants preferred the correct facial pattern condition [5]. Simion et al. suggested that newborns preferred "top-heavy" stimuli, and such bias might account for neonatal face preference [6]. The findings indicate that "top-heavy" arrangements, rather than the specific parts such as eyes, nose, and mouth, are important for face processing. In these studies, the "pattern with a face-like arrangement," but not a real face, was used. Because of this innate nature, facial patterns, as well as real faces, should be detected automatically. In addition, a region named the Fusiform Face Area (FFA) in the brain is dedicated to face processing [75] [76] [29], and it is known to preferentially activate face patterns regardless of face perception [77].

On the other hand, some studies indicate that this pareidolia phenomenon does not occur just by looking at an object and must be recognized as a face, with top-down modulation [24] [25] [23]. In fact, this phenomenon occurs even when random noise images do not include facial features [13], and face perception and object perception are enhanced by topdown modulation [78] [79] [80]. According to these findings, the occipital area is responsible for visual processing, the occipitotemporal area is related to facial recognition (FFA and inferior frontal gyrus [IFG]), and the activities of the prefrontal cortex are related to higher cognitive functions such as executive functions. In the present study, we investigated how both bottom-up processing and top-down modulation contribute to face-likeness perception.

3.1.2 Perceptual categorization

Humans can immediately judge what kind of object it is by looking at the object. Especially, the ability is sharpened for the face. The rounded object is judged immediately as a face in the field of view. This ability to quickly group experienced stimuli into meaningful categories (perceptual categorization) is certainly one of the most fundamental high-level brain functions. Caldara et al. investigated the categorization of patterns with facial features using fMRI [77], and they showed that patterns with facial features activated FFA, suggesting that patterns with facial features are automatically categorized. However, in their experiments, the stimulus presentation duration was nine seconds; thus, automatic categorization was difficult.

3.1.3 Fast periodic visual stimulation

In the visual domain, the method that is used to investigate the perceptual categorization process combines visual periodicity with the direct recording of neural activity using EEG. By embedding members of a specific category at a strict periodic rate within a dynamic visual stream of items that do not belong to that category, the perceptual categorization process of interest is projected at a specified frequency in the EEG spectrum. This approach is an objective and highly efficient way to separate the category-selective visual process without post-subtraction at a rapid (and quasi-continuous) rate [81] [82] [83]. For example, Lochy et al. [84] investigated the lexical categorization process by presenting participants with a stream of non-word items at a rate of exactly 10 Hz (i.e., ten non-words per second), with a word stimulus embedded with every fifth item; three minutes of this stimulation elicited an electrophysiological response at the exact frequency of image presentation (10 Hz). More importantly, the exact period of word items is embedded in non-word sequences (i.e., 10 Hz/5 items = 2 Hz); even if there is no apparent lexical decision task, this 2 Hz signal is observed and interpreted as a differential response to a word compared to a non-word because it can only occur if the response caused by a word is different from that caused by a non-word [84].

Similarly, the periodicity-based approach (Fast Periodic Visual Stimulation: FPVS) is to examine the perceptual categorization of the face and natural object images in human adults and infants [85] [17] [81] [83]. For example, Retter and Rossion [83] presented participants with a dynamic stream of object images at a rate of 12.5 Hz (i.e., 80 ms per image), with every three, five, seven, nine, or 11 face images inserted into the sequence. They observed a robust category-selective response at each of the defined face periodicities (e.g., 12.5 Hz / 7 = 1.79 Hzfor every seven images), in addition to a robust response at an image presentation frequency of 12.5 Hz. This finding indicates that there is a discriminatory response to the face compared with the object. Given the highly rapid image presentation rate (each image was replaced after only 80 ms) and an entirely orthogonal task, their findings suggest that this categoryselective response reflects automatic categorization of face and object at the perceptual level rather than at the decision level. This conclusion is supported by applying this approach to intracerebral recordings in a large group of human patients to identify and quantify the faceselective response in local regions of the right ventral occipitotemporal cortex [82]. Responses of interest in FPVS design depend on temporal distractors, which elicit different responses from essential stimuli, and measure the same evoked response when a critical stimulus appears using a number of highly variable images (e.g., 50 natural face images and 200 natural object images [17]), and these responses allow the visual system to distinguish essential categories in the stream from other categories [82] [17] [83]. Importantly, the dependence on the periodic response serves to minimize low-level image confounding without artificially standardizing lowlevel stimulus characteristics. If highly varying natural images are used, the amplitude spectra of the two categories may vary on average, but not consistently across the stimulus set. As a result, a specific set of low-level cues does not reliably occur at the frequency of the essential categories where the response of interest is measured. The observation supports this allegation that phase-scrambled natural images with preserved amplitude spectra but without structural information do not trigger the category-selective response in FPVS designs [85] [17] [83].

An outstanding issue is whether face-likeness is categorized in a very fast stimulus presentation stream. For example, a face category-selective response embedded in a stream of objects is known to be composed of several components starting at ~ 100 ms and lasting up to ~ 500 ms after face onset [17] [81] [83].

It has been suggested that face detection can be achieved within 100–300 ms after the start of stimulation [86] [87] [88]. Our previous study [89] demonstrates that face-likeness is judged by about 100 milliseconds after stimulus onset. Thus, it is expected that face-likeness will be detected even in a stream of very fast stimuli. Another issue is how attention can be focused on the face. In general, experimental studies have shown that selective attention to the face enhances behavioral performance and increases neural activation. For example, Boutet et al. [90] found that individual face encoding had significant advantages when participants were asked to pay attention to the face rather than the house picture on a 50% transparency display. At the neural level, when a participant pays attention to face stimuli or performs a home matching/recognition task instead of a face, the face-selective response of the mid-FFA of the ventral occipitotemporal cortex is enhanced [91] [92] [93] [94] [95] [96] [97]. The time course of the effects of these attentions is controversial, but some studies showed face perception processing modulation only 200 ms after the start of stimulation [98] [99]. Other studies suggest that the initial stage of face perception processing that is indexed by N170 is strongly modulated by selective attention. By performing the face attention task, observers can easily create visual templates for categories based on the necessary arrangement of facial features, thus improving face-likeness detection as well as face detection.

3.1.4 Overview

To investigate the attentional modulation of rapid and automatic face-likeness detection captured by FPVS-EEG, participants were instructed to complete two behavioral tasks: (1) detect color changes of a central fixation cross (face-irrelevant task), which is a typical orthogonal task used in such studies [100] [101] or (2) detect the target gender face randomly embedded in the another gender face (face-relevant task). To confirm whether the face-selective response can be measured by these tasks, the face-selective response was compared using a sequence in which face stimuli appear periodically and another sequence in which face-likeness stimuli of interest appear periodically. We expected to find a significant face-selective response in facerelated regions (i.e., occipitotemporal cortex, with a right hemispheric dominance); in addition, we predicted an increased face-selective response in the face-relevant task compared with the face-irrelevant task.

3.2 Materials and methods

3.2.1 Participants

Sixteen healthy, right-handed volunteers (age: 23–30 years, 16 males) with normal or correctedto-normal vision participated in the experiment. Informed written consent was obtained from participants after procedural details had been explained. The Committee for Human Research of Toyohashi University of Technology approved the experimental procedures.

3.2.2 Stimuli

The stimuli included 200 grayscale images of various non-face objects(e.g., animals, plants, objects, and structures/objects), 100 face images from the internet, and 100 face-like images, which are 256×256 pixel. The luminance and contrast were equalized between stimuli. During the stimulation sequence, each image appeared on a uniform grey background and subtended 9.077° of visual angle. A small black fixation cross (subtending 0.788° of visual angle) overlaid the images throughout the sequence.

3.2.3 Procedure

The procedure was similar to that in the study Quek et al. [102]. Participants sat in a magnetic and soundproof dark room and viewed a computer monitor at a distance of 80 cm. They viewed only the fixation cross in advance for two seconds, and the stimulus sequences were then presented after a two-second fade-in. The 90-s sequence of rapid images were presented at a periodic rate of exactly 12 Hz (12 images per second), and when the stimulus sequence was completed, the presentation ended after a three-second fade-out. We used a 12 Hz stimulation rate because generic face-categorization (i.e., the detection of faces in the visual environment) can be achieved within the 83 ms image duration [83]. Moreover, it is considered that the stimulus presentation method using this frequency can dissociate the face-selective processing from general visual processing. The experiment was run using Windows 7 with a MATLAB 2017a and Psychophysics Toolbox extension [103] [104]. The contrast of each stimulus was presented sinusoidally in the range of 0% to 100–0% within 83.33 ms. In this presentation method, it is known that each stimulus is still visible at low contrast, but the perceptual interruption does not occur between images [83]. Participants were instructed to fix their gaze on the central cross overlaid on the images during two tasks: (1) to press a key when the color of the fixation cross changes (200 ms change duration; 10 changes in each stimulation sequence; minimum 2s between consecutive changes), (2) to press a key when the target gender faces that were randomly embedded among another gender faces in each sequence (10 changes in each stimulation sequence; minimum 1.5 s between consecutive changes) were detected. The target gender faces were presented to participants before the session. In the periodic face stimulation sequence, face-like stimuli were randomly embedded in the sequence, and face stimulation sequence, face stimuli were randomly embedded in the sequence, and face-like stimulation sequence, face stimuli were randomly embedded in the sequence, and face-like stimulation sequence, face stimuli were randomly embedded in the sequence, and face-like stimulation sequence, face stimuli were randomly embedded in the sequence, and face-like stimulation sequence, face stimuli were randomly embedded in the sequence, and face-like stimulation sequence, face stimuli were randomly embedded in the sequence, and face-like stimulation sequence, face stimuli were randomly embedded in the sequence, and face-like stimulation sequence.

presented with a period of 12 Hz /18 Hz = 0.67 Hz as well as periodic face stimulation sequence. Each stimulus sequence included 60 face stimuli and 60 face-like stimuli and was presented once with stimuli upright and once with stimuli inverted. Each task condition was repeated 2 times, resulting in a total of 16 stimulation sequences (90 s each with 10 oddballs: fixation color and gender-change events; total testing time =20–30 min, including breaks). The two tasks were presented in an alternating order, and the starting condition was counterbalanced across participants. There was no order effects in either the behavioral performance or the EEG signals.

3.2.4 EEG-recording

The EEG was recorded using a BioSemi ActiveTwo system with 128 Ag-AgCl Active-electrodes, arranged in the default BioSemi configuration, which centers around nine standard 10–20 locations on the primary axes (BioSemi B.V., Amsterdam, Netherlands; for exact position coordinates, see http://www.biosemi.com/headcap.htm). Electrode labels were changed to closely match a more conventional 10–20 system (for exact relabeling, see [17]). The magnitude of the offset of all electrodes, referenced to the common mode sense (CMS), was held below 50 mV. Electrooculography (EOG) was recorded from additional channels (the infraorbital region of the right eye and the outer canthus of the right and left eye). The EEG and EOG were digitized at a sampling rate of 512 Hz.



Figure 3.1: Fast periodic visual stimulation (FPVS) paradigm. (A). Examples of natural images of faces, face-like objects, animals, and houses/buildings used in the experiment. (B). Images were presented by sinusoidal contrast modulation at a rate of 12 stimuli per second (12 Hz). Stimuli were randomly selected from a large pool of images of various man-made and natural (living and non-living) objects, and different images of either faces or face-like objects (as illustrated here) were presented every 18 stimuli (i.e., appearing at the frequency of 12 Hz/18 = 0.67 Hz). In the examples of 12 Hz cycles for the two experimental conditions, images of either faces or face-like objects were used as category-specific stimuli in different sequences. The bottom shows the timeline of a whole stimulation sequence, which starts with a fixation cross displayed on a gray background for 2 to 5 s (random duration), followed by a 90 s sequence of image presentation. The image presentation sequence started by a 3-s face-in period and ended with a 3-s fade-out period.

3.2.5 Analysis

Behavioral analysis

Response time (RT) for tasks related to faces was calculated relative to the start of the target face. For the task not related to the face, the RT was calculated relative to the start of the fixation cross color change, and the average of the RTs was performed for each correct response. A response was considered correct if it occurred between 150 and 3000 milliseconds after the start of the target. Since our current paradigm did not enable the separation of mistake and false alarms, the keypress recorded outside this period was labeled as incorrect. We compared overall response accuracy, correct response time, and the number of incorrect keypresses across conditions using repeated ANOVAs with task (Face-relevant vs. Face-irrelevant), category (faces and face-like objects), and orientation (upright vs. inverted) as within-subject factors.

Preprocessing

Recorded EEG was analyzed using EEGLAB [61] and Fieldtrip [105] in MATLAB R2017b (MathWorks, USA). The continuously recorded data were the first bandpass filtered at 0.1 to 100Hz (Butterworth filter, fourth-order) and then downsampled to 256Hz to reduce the file size and processing time. A Fast Fourier Transform (FFT) multi-notch filter with a width of 0.5 Hz was used to remove electrical noise at three harmonics of 60 Hz. They were cropped into 93s-segments for each sequence (1s before the fade-in and 0.5s after the fade-out). To remove a single component accounting for blink artifacts, independent component analysis (ICA) was applied for the data of two participants who blinked more than 0.2 times/s (mean = 0.10, SD = 0.116) during the sequences. Channels, which were artifact-prone across multiple trials (less than 1% of channels on average), were interpolated. Finally, all EEG channels were referenced to a common average.

Frequency-domain analysis

Following preprocessing, each sequence epoch containing a cycle of integer number of face/facelike stimulus frequency (0.67 Hz) was segmented to create an 88.51-second epoch containing exactly 59 face/face-like stimuli presentation cycles for each stimulus sequence. This process ensured that a single frequency bin in the center of the category-selective frequency (0.67 Hz) is the target of the EEG spectrum. The two epochs for each condition were averaged before applying a Fast Fourier Transform (FFT) to extract the normalized amplitude spectrum for each channel ranging from 0 to 256 Hz. The frequency resolution of these spectra was very high,

as determined by the inverse of the sequence duration (i.e., 1/88.5 = 0.0113 Hz). Using the amplitude spectrum pooled across all participants, conditions, and scalp channels to identify important response signals at the relevant stimulation frequencies (i.e., 12 Hz, 0.67 Hz, and harmonics), we computed a z-score at each discrete frequency bin [101] [106] [17] [81] [83]. The average amplitude of this noise range was subtracted from the amplitude of the target frequency, and the result was divided by the standard deviation of the noise range amplitude. The advantage of determining statistical significance in this way is that unlike t-test (which depends on inter-individual variance), z-scores can be calculated at the group level or for each participant [107]. The z-scores at a given frequency were calculated by subtracting the mean amplitude of 20 neighboring frequency bins (10 bins on each side) from that frequency, divided by the standard deviation of the 20 neighboring bins. The neighboring bins did not include the two immediately adjacent frequency bins [81] [108] [101]. As shown in previous studies, response signals with z-scores greater than 3.1 were considered significant (p < 0.01, one-tailed, i.e., signal > noise). The goal was to identify frequencies where the signal is significantly larger than the noise in the surrounding bins; therefore, the use of a one-tailed test is well justified in this context. To account for noise variation across the EEG spectrum, a local baseline subtraction was performed on the raw amplitude of each condition using the same baseline range as used in the z-score calculation. Then, the baseline-corrected amplitudes were summed at the frequency harmonics of interest. The category-selective response was quantified as the sum of the seven harmonics of 0.67 Hz (0.67 Hz, 2 Hz, 2.67 Hz, 3.33 Hz, 4 Hz, 5.33 Hz, and 6 Hz), while the common response was quantified as the sum of the first three harmonics of 12 Hz (12 Hz, 24 Hz, and 36 Hz) for validation of the quantification procedure through summation of amplitudes across harmonics. When category-selective responses or common responses are mentioned, please refer to these summed and baseline-corrected responses in the following sections.

To consider noise variations across the EEG spectrum, a local corrected baseline was obtained based on the raw amplitude of each condition using the same baseline range as used in the Z-score calculation (see above). To quantify the category-selective response, baseline correction amplitudes for all relevant harmonics were summed in two ways [81] [83] at the global level by pooling information across 1) all scalp channels, and 2) functional regions-of-interest (ROIs) compatible with stable bilateral occipitotemporal patterns induced by FPVS paradigm [17] [81] [83]. The ROIs were defined by averaging the five-channel of each hemisphere: left occipitotemporal ROI (average over channels P7, P9, PO7, PO9, and PO11) and right occipitotemporal ROI (average over channels P8, P10, PO8, PO10, and PO12). The occipitoparietal ROI showed the common response at 12 Hz, averaged over 12 channels (OI1, O1, POO5, PO3h, POz, POOz, Oz, OI2, O2, POO6, and PO4h).

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Behavior

We investigated behavioral performances across the two task conditions (Figure 3.2). There were main effects of each factor in accuracy: task $[F(1, 15) = 7.692, p = 0.014, \eta^2 = 0.339]$, orientation $[F(1, 15) = 9.824, p = 0.007, \eta^2 = 0.396]$, and condition $[F(1, 15) = 16.653, p = 0.001, \eta^2 = 0.526]$. Furthermore, the following interactions were found:task × condition $[F(1, 15) = 9.887, p = 0.007, \eta^2 = 0.397]$, and orientation × condition $[F(1, 15) = 7.843, p = 0.013, \eta^2 = 0.343]$. In the interaction between tasks, the accuracy in the face and the face-like condition was showed a significant difference between tasks (face: $p < 0.001, \eta^2 = 0.62$ and face-likeness: $p < 0.001, \eta^2 = 0.82$). Furthermore, in the relevant task, the accuracy in the face condition was higher than in the face-like condition $(p < 0.001, \eta^2 = 0.21)$. In the interaction between tasks (upright: $p < 0.001, \eta^2 = 0.81$ and inverted: $p < 0.001, \eta^2 = 0.63$). Moreover, in the relevant task, the accuracy was higher in upright orientation than in inverted orientation ($p < 0.005, \eta^2 = 0.21$).

Participants were significantly slower when responding in the face-relevant task than in the face irrelevant task $[F(1, 15) = 1538.361, p < 0.001, \eta^2 = 0.904]$. In addition, participants made more incorrect keypresses in the face-relevant task than in the face-irrelevant task $[F(1, 15) = 122.095, p < 0.001, \eta^2 = 0.611]$.



Figure 3.2: (A) Accuracy: Each bar indicates the mean accuracy for each condition in the upright and inverted orientations. (B) Response Time: Each bar indicates the mean reaction time for each condition in the upright and inverted orientations. (C) Incorrect keypresses: Each bar indicates the mean number of incorrect keypresses for each condition in the upright and inverted orientations.

3.3.2 Frequency-domain

The common response(12Hz)

The fundamental frequency rate response, which simply reflects the contrast between the background and face stimuli, is a mix of low-level and high-level processes [109], and this response is not expected to differ between conditions and tasks. As shown in previous studies using this paradigm [101] [100], the 12 Hz response was characterized by a medial occipital topography peaking at Oz for the response at the fundamental frequency rate (see Figure 3.3, 3.4). In the case of an upright face, at the fundamental frequency (12 Hz), the activity spreads specifically to the outer occipital region of the right hemisphere. To investigate the effects of orientation (inverted or upright), condition (face or face-likeness), and task (facerelevant or face-irrelevant), we defined regions of interest based on 12 electrodes. We compared the baseline-corrected amplitudes summed for the three harmonics of the base rate (Figure 3.5). Repeated measurement ANOVA for orientation (inverted or upright), condition (face or face-likeness), and task (face-relevant or face-irrelevant) revealed the main effects of task $[F(1, 15) = 7.968, p = 0.013, \eta^2 = 0.018]$, with an average of 26% increase in response to the face-relevant task as compared with the face-irrelevant task.

In summary, we observed larger responses to face-relevant than to face-irrelevant tasks at the base stimulation rate, and this dfference was non-significant over medial occipital sites where responses to low-level stimuli were typically recorded.

The category-selective response(0.67Hz)

As previously reported for category-selective responses, the EEG spectrum showed a high SNR response (which reflects the detection of face detection) at 0.67 Hz for harmonics in the face-relevant task (Figure 3.3, 3.4). The response was much larger for upright faces than for inverted faces over occipitotemporal sites, and the discrimination responses were barely visible when faces were presented upside-down. The magnitudes of the inversion effect [(upright-inverted)/ inverted] for each condition averaged across tasks and two occipitotemporal ROIs reached 257% and -89% for the face condition and the face-like condition, respectively. This finding indicates that the inversion has a strong effect on perception. Furthermore, the magnitude of the task modulation effect [(face-relevant - face-irrelevant] was calculated in the same way as above described. The face condition and face-like condition reached 798% and -122%, respectively, indicating that the task has a strong modulation on perception.



Figure 3.3: (A). Baseline-subtracted amplitude spectra at the left and right pooled occipitotemporal electrode sites (averaged for channels P7/P9/PO7/PO9/PO11 and P8/P10/PO8/PO10/PO12) in the face condition for the face-irrelevant task. (B). 2-D scalp topographies in the face condition show category-specific responses (right side) and common frequency responses (left side). (C). Baseline-subtracted amplitude spectra at the left and right pooled occipitotemporal electrode sites (averaged for channels P7/P9/PO7/PO9/PO11 and P8/P10/PO8/PO10/PO12) in the face-like condition for the face-irrelevant task. (D). 2-D scalp topographies in the face-like condition show category-specific responses (right side) and common frequency responses in the face-like condition for the face-irrelevant task. (D). 2-D scalp topographies in the face-like condition show category-specific responses (right side) and common frequency responses (left side).



Figure 3.4: (A). Baseline-subtracted amplitude spectra at the left and right pooled occipitotemporal electrode sites (averaged for channels P7/P9/PO7/PO9/PO11 and P8/P10/PO8/PO10/PO12) in the face condition for the face-relevant task. (B). 2-D scalp topographies in the face condition show category-specific responses (right side) and common frequency responses (left side). (C). Baseline-subtracted amplitude spectra at the left and right pooled occipitotemporal electrode sites (averaged for channels P7/P9/PO7/PO9/PO11 and P8/P10/PO8/PO10/PO12) in the face-like condition for the face-irrelevant task. (D). 2-D scalp topographies in the face-like condition show category-specific responses (right side) and common frequency responses in the face-like condition for the face-irrelevant task. (D). 2-D scalp topographies in the face-like condition show category-specific responses (right side) and common frequency responses (left side).



Figure 3.5: Sum of baseline-corrected amplitudes representing the common response

Responses over the whole scalp The grand-averaged summed baseline-corrected amplitudes at each condition, each orientation, and tasks were pooled over all channels (see Figure 3.6 A).A repeated-measures ANOVA on the responses across the whole scalp with Orientation (Upright, Inverted), Condition (Face, Face-likeness), and Task (Face-relevant, Face-irrelevant) as within-subject factors revealed no main effect or interaction.

ROI analysis Right region of interest(Figure 3.6 B): a three-way repeated ANOVA with Condition (Face or Face-likeness), Orientation (Upright or Inverted) and Task (Face-relevant or Face-irrelevant) as within-subjects factors was used to analyze the category-selective responses. The results showed significant main effects of each factors Task $[F(1, 15) = 7.775, p = 0.014, \eta^2 = 0.069]$), Orientation $[F(1, 15) = 7.48, p = 0.015, \eta^2 = 0.021]$, and Condition $[F(1, 15) = 12.829, p = 0.003, \eta^2 = 0.099]$, and also a significant interactions of Task × Orientation $[F(1, 15) = 4.677, p = 0.047, \eta^2 = 0.017, Task × Condition <math>[F(1, 15) = 9.002, p = 0.009, \eta^2 = 0.076]$, and Orientation × Condition $[F(1, 15) = 5.863, p = 0.029, \eta^2 = 0.017]$. Further analyses showed that for both tasks, the responses were larger in the Face condition than in the Face-likeness condition (Face-relevant: $[t_1, 15) = 10.841, p = 0.005, \eta^2 = 0.19]$; Face-irrelevant: $[t_1, 15) = 8.374, p = 0.011, \eta^2 = 0.089]$). Moreover, for the face condition, the responses were larger in the Face-relevant task than that in the Face-irrelevant task $[t_1, 15) = 8.404, p = 0.011, \eta^2 = 0.163]$. Regarding the significant interaction of Task × Orientation, further analyses showed that the responses were larger in the Face-relevant task than that in the Face-relevant task than in the

Face-irrelevant task for both orientation (Inverted: $[t_{(1, 15)} = 7.693, p = 0.014, \eta^2 = 0.085]$; Upright: $[t_{(1, 15)} = 6.796, p = 0.02, \eta^2 = 0.089]$). Moreover, for the Face-relevant task, the responses were larger in the Upright orientation than in Inverted orientation $[t_{(1, 15)} = 6.052, p = 0.027, \eta^2 = 0.041]$). Regarding the significant interaction of Condition × Orientation, further analyses showed that the responses were larger in the Face condition than in the Face-like condition for both orientations (Inverted: $[t_{(1, 15)} = 18.336, p = 0.001, \eta^2 = 0.167]$; Upright: $[t_{(1, 15)} = 10.243, p = 0.006, \eta^2 = 0.112]$). Moreover, for the Face condition, the responses were larger in the Upright orientation than in the Inverted orientation $[t_{(1, 15)} = 6.77, p = 0.02, \eta^2 = 0.042]$).

Left region of interest (Figure 3.6 B): a three-way repeated ANOVA with Condition (Face or Face-likeness), Orientation (Upright or Inverted) and Task (Face-relevant or Face-irrelevant) as within-subjects factors was used to analyze the category-selective responses. The results showed significant main effects of each factor (Task[$F(1, 15) = 7.049, p = 0.018, \eta^2 = 0.059$], and Condition[$F(1, 15) = 11.977, p = 0.003, \eta^2 = 0.087$]) and also a significant interaction of Task × Condition[$F(1, 15) = 7.854, p = 0.013, \eta^2 = 0.053$]. Further analyses showed that for both tasks, the responses were larger in the Face condition than in the Face-likeness condition (Face-relevant: [$t_{(1, 15)} = 10.012, p = 0.006, \eta^2 = 0.151$]; Face-irrelevant:[$t_{(1, 15)} = 8.969, p =$ $0.009, \eta^2 = 0.098$]). Moreover, for the face condition, the responses were larger in the Facerelevant task than that in the Face-irrelevant task [$t_{(1, 15)} = 7.502, p = 0.015, \eta^2 = 0.125$].



Figure 3.6: Sum of baseline-corrected amplitudes representing the selective responses.

3.4 Discussion

We investigated how a face-relevant task (i.e., searching for a specific face gender) modulates neural responses reflecting rapid face-likeness detection, measured with FPVS-EEG. Observers completed either a face-irrelevant task (detect rare and random color changes) or a face-relevant task (detect rare and random male/female faces among sequences of male/female faces). Participants completed the face-irrelevant task with > 95% accuracy and the face-relevant task with > 65% accuracy. The accuracy of the face-relevant task was lower because the presentation frequency was high and it was difficult to recognize the stimulus.

3.4.1 Frequency domain

The briefly presented natural images of the faces generate a large electrophysiological response in the right occipitotemporal cortex, as demonstrated in a recent study [17]. Since this response reflects the distinction of the face from other objects (living and non-living) and generalization of the whole face, the low-level contribution (e.g., the face size, viewpoint, and direction) does not affect the face-selective response. In this study, we investigated the face-likeness selectivity response by replacing the face image of the sequence with a face-like category associated with the face. Furthermore, we examined how the response changes depend on the attentional state of the sequence (task difference).

Importantly, the category-specific stimulus frequency and its harmonics (0.67 Hz and n0. 67 Hz) are not absolute responses to the face or face-likeness, but the responses to each of these categories are different compared with those to numerous object categories. The brain response common to other objects, which is a mixture of low- and high-level visual processes, is projected to the fundamental stimulus presentation rate and its harmonics (12 Hz and n12 Hz). The response at n0. 67 Hz was previously assumed to be unique to the face appearing at a frequency but may have been at least partially observed with face-like stimuli appearing in every 17 images of the rapid stimulus stream [102] [85] [17]. However, the results of the present study showed that the responses observed for face-like objects in the FPVS stream did not show category selectivity. The present study indicates that the response truly reflects the selectivity for the face.

We replicated the previous results by finding the individual's face discrimination response for the face condition in the EEG frequency domain on the occipitotemporal channel, dominated by the right hemisphere (e.g., [100] [101] [110] [111]). These findings further confirm FPVS-EEG as a robust neurofunctional method for examining high-level perceptual processing with high objectivity and sensitivity. More importantly, our data indicate that tasks significantly modulate the neural responses elicited by changes in facial identity. Discrimination gender increased this response even in both occipital regions (up to 798% amplitude increase in both right and left hemispheres). These observations are consistent with those in previous studies, which indicate that selective attention can enhance face processing [91] [90] [93] [97]. Furthermore, importantly, the face-relevant task for the face condition increased the overall amplitude of the response across the scalp and indeed reduced the relative spatial selectivity of the neural discrimination response. In fact, it was found that the face-relevant task for the face condition elicited a relatively strong increase in activity in the occipital region. These observations suggest that focusing directly on the face enhances neural face discrimination by employing additional processes that are not normally automatically associated with special face processing. Thus, in the orthogonal fixation task (the face-irrelevant task), the neural discrimination response is driven primarily by specialized face discrimination processing and reflects individual face identification, while the explicit face task response appears to contain a greater mixture of processes.

On the other hand, we could not observe the face-like discrimination response for both faceirrelevant and face-relevant task conditions in the EEG frequency domain on the occipitotemporal channel, dominated by both right and left hemispheres. However, the category-selective response was observed more intensely, but not significantly, in the occipital region than in other regions, suggesting that face-likeness is detected in the primary visual processing. In the faceirrelevant task, it is predicted that the category-specific response will not be observed because the attention is not paid to the face-like object, and the ambiguous objects are not perceived as a face. In addition, it is possible that the face-likeness is automatically detected from facelike objects by primary visual processing; therefore, the category-selective response might be observed even under the face-like patterns used in this experiment have various categories, the discrimination process with other non-face objects is relatively low, and the generalization process is also low. Therefore, the category-selective response observation is difficult.

Furthermore, in the face-relevant task, the discrimination gender decreased this response even in both occipital regions (up to -122% amplitude decrease in both the right and left hemispheres). Several possible reasons are as follows: The face processing was extended by selective attention, and the detection of ambiguous patterns as faces was suppressed; accordingly, the effect of reducing category-selective responses was observed. In other words, our findings suggest that the detection of ambiguous information such as face-likeness is suppressed when performing high-precision face identification in a visual processing system.

3.4.2 Conclusions

The present study used the human brain's synchronization to periodic visual input to investigate how face-likeness detection and discrimination are modulated by a face-relevant task. Results showed that the visual system discriminated individual faces automatically and rapidly in the absence of the explicit attention to faces, but not face-like objects.

Although a face-relevant task substantially increased the individual face discrimination response over occipitotemporal regions in the face condition, it also reduced the response in the face-like condition by suppression of the detection of ambiguous patterns such as faces. The visual system may have a cognitive mechanism discriminating actual faces from face-like objects.

Chapter 4

Pupillary response to face pareidolia

4.1 Introduction

The basic cognitive mechanism of the pareidolia phenomenon is considered to be based on the face perception processing mechanism. Humans see an object and unconsciously judge whether it is a human face or not. This ability to recognize the face is a high-level perception function of humans. In face perception, our brain conducts two processing: featural processing that recognizes from facial elements such as "eyes, nose, and mouth" and holistic processing that recognizes from the arrangement of the facial elements. In particular, holistic processing is related to the pareidolia phenomenon [12].

For this reason, this phenomenon was considered a relatively low-level cognitive process. However, recently, it has been thought that this phenomenon is due to the high-level cognitive process that occurs due to the influence of the top-down process. Liu et al. demonstrated that the pareidolia phenomenon occurs even when random noise images without facial features are used, and the occipital region associated with face perception and prefrontal cortex activity is related to high-level cognitive functions such as executive function. The findings suggest that this phenomenon is influenced by the Top-down process [13].

To date, a few studies have measured the response of the cortical pathway and elucidated the mechanism of this phenomenon. However, no studies have investigated whether the processing of this phenomenon contributes to bottom-up and top-down processing. Therefore, in this study, we investigated the contribution of the bottom-up and top-down processing to the pareidolia phenomenon using the pupil diameter response. Conventionally, the pupil diameter response reflects high-level perception, such as preference and interest, and is considered to be influenced by high-level perception [112] [113]. However, recently, it has been suggested that the pupillary response reflects low-level visual processing, and small and fast pupil constriction can be observed for stimuli with complex visual features [114] [115] [116]. When an emotional facial stimulus is presented, the response of the autonomic nervous system is reflected, and the pupil dilation occurs [117] [118]. Recently, pupillary responses related to face perception have been examined [119], and these pupillary responses respond to inverted faces and macaque faces.

For this reason, the pupillary response to face-likeness should be expected. Accordingly, not only the bottom-up processing but also the top-down processing (high-level perception) can be observed using the pupillary response. If the bottom-up processing contributes to the face pareidolia phenomenon, it is expected that the pupillary response is the same as the response when the face is perceived even if a task unrelated to the face is performed for a stimulus perceived as a face. On the other hand, if the top-down processing greatly contributes to the face pareidolia phenomenon, it is predicted that a change in the pupillary response is observed only when the task related to the face is performed. In this study, we investigated the contribution of bottom-up and top-down processing to the face pareidolia phenomenon using the pupillary response.

4.2 Materials and methods

4.2.1 Participants

Thirteen healthy, right-handed volunteers (age: 23–25 years, 1 female) with normal or correctedto-normal vision participated in the experiment. Informed written consent was obtained from participants after procedural details had been explained. The Committee for Human Research of Toyohashi University of Technology approved the experimental procedures.

4.2.2 Stimuli

The stimuli is consist of circles with a size of $5.00^{\circ} \times 5.00^{\circ}$ as a face outline (hereinafter referred to as "Outline circle") and small black circles with a size of $1.25^{\circ} \times 1.25^{\circ}$ imitating facial part of eyes, nose, and mouth (hereinafter referred to as "Parts circle"). In this study, the stimulus type was defined by the arrangement of facial parts'circles, and symmetry was defined as line symmetry, not centrosymmetry. Four stimulus types are defined below: HH stimulus type (high face-likeness, high symmetry), Y-shaped arrangement with the center of the outline circle as the axis; LH stimulus type (low face-likeness, high symmetry), arranged like a square; LL stimulus

type (low face-likeness, low symmetry), trapezoidal arrangement; HL stimulus type (high facelikeness, low symmetry), Y-shaped arrangement with the shifted position from the center of the outline circle. Figure 4.1 shows how to arrange each stimulus type. For the HH stimulus type, the distance between the small circles imitating the left and right eyes was changed around the small circle imitating the nose (1, 2, 3, and 4 degrees), the distance between the small circle imitating the mouth and nose was also changed (1, 2, 3, and 4 degrees), and a variety of above stimuli ($4 \times 4 = 16$ stimuli) were combined. Similarly, the LH and LL stimulus types were combined with different short side and long side distances, and a total of 16 stimuli were used in each stimulus type. For the HL stimulus type, the small circles arranged in the Y-shape were fixed, and they were arranged at distances of 1, 2, 3, and 4 degrees in the direction of 45, 135, 225, and 315 degrees from the center of the outline circle. A variety of the above stimuli ($4 \times 4 = 16$) were combined. These stimuli were prepared upright and inverted (upside-down, 180 ° rotation), and were presented with 256 images of 4 stimulus types $\times 2$ tasks $\times 2$ orientations $\times 16$ images.

		Symmetry	
		High	Low
Face-like	High	•••	
	Low	•••	••

Figure 4.1: Examples of stimuli: the upper face is defined as high face-likeness, and the below face is defined as low face-likeness; the left side symmetry is high, and the right side symmetry is low.

4.2.3 Procedure

At the start of each trial, a fixation point appeared in the center of the screen for 1000 ms, followed by the presentation of the scrambled stimulus for 1000 ms, a target stimulus for 2000 ms, and a scramble stimulus as a mask. Participants were instructed to respond with a keyboard button response whether the presented stimulus was a face-like or non-face-like object (face-like

task) and symmetric or asymmetric (symmetric task). There were two experimental sessions for each task. In each session, 16 trials for each stimulus type were presented randomly.



Figure 4.2: The stimulus presentation procedure in the experiment. First, the fixation cross was presented for 1 second, followed by the scrambled stimulus for 1 second. Immediately thereafter, the target stimulus was presented for 1 second. The scrambled stimulus was presented for 2 seconds after the presentation of the target stimulus. The participants then responded to the task.

4.2.4 Pupillary response recording

The experiment was performed in a dark room, and the stimulus presentation was controlled by Psychotoolbox [104] and presented on an LCD monitor(VIEWpixx, Vpixx, resolution 1920 \times 1200 pixels, FrameRate 120 Hz). The participants viewed a computer monitor at a distance of 60 cm. The pupil diameter was measured using Eyelink 2000 (SR research system, Canada), and the data were recorded at a sampling frequency of 500 Hz.

4.2.5 Analysis

The pupillary response data and behavioral data were computed for each condition. In this study, we only analyzed upright orientation because the LH and LL stimulus types during the inverted orientation were the same in the upright orientation, and a behavioral response that looked like a face was not obtained under the HH and HL stimulus types during the inverted orientation. For the pupil diameter response analysis, when the scrambled stimulus was presented, the timing of 0 ms was defined as the onset, and the interval from 500 ms to 0 ms before the scrambled stimulus was presented as the baseline. The trials with blinking were rejected, four stimulus types were included in the trials for each subject, and the average was calculated. The peak amplitude of dilation was computed using the difference from the minimum value to

the maximum value of the pupil diameter after the target stimulus presentation. Furthermore, the change in pupil diameter response during 2000 ms after the end of the target stimulus presentation was averaged and used as the mean pupil dilation amplitude.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Behavior

Figure 4.3 shows the behavioral results. We used repeated-measures analysis of variance for two factors (task, stimulus type) to analyze the response rate in each task, and main effects were observed for each stimulus type [Stimulus types: $F(3, 36) = 357.493, p < .0001, \eta^2 = 0.96$], and interaction [Tasks and Stimulus types: $F(3, 36) = 280.823, p < .0001, \eta^2 = 0.95$]. The simple main effect test (Bonferroni method) for this interaction found both effects for tasks and stimulus types. The results of multiple comparisons showed that the response rate was higher in the HH and HL stimulus types than in other stimulus types (p < .001) in the face-likeness evaluation task. The main effect of the response rate was higher than that of the stimulus type (p < .001). Regardless of the task, the LL stimulus type had a lower response rate than any other stimulus types (p < .001).



Figure 4.3: Results of behavioral analyses: The black bar indicates the task response rate (YES response) during the face-likeness evaluation task, and the white bar indicates the task response rate during the symmetry evaluation task.

4.3.2 Pupillary response

The results of the pupillary response are shown in Figures 4.4. The pupillary responses observed under the HH, LL, and LH stimulus types did not differ between tasks. However, in the HL stimulus type, there were difference between the tasks in the pupil dilation peak amplitude and the pupil dilation amount after the stimulus presentation. Therefore, the pupil dilation peak amplitude and the pupil dilation amount under each stimulus type were calculated and compared.



Figure 4.4: The pupil diameter response of each stimulus type at each task. The red line shows the pupil diameter response in the face-likeness evaluation task, and the blue line shows the pupil diameter response in the symmetry evaluation task. The shaded line of each line shows the standard error between subjects.

Dilation peak amplitude

Since it was difficult to compare each stimulus type from the pupillary response (Figure 4.4), the pupil dilation peak amplitude for each stimulus type was calculated for comparison in each stimulus type. Figure 4.5 A shows the calculated pupil dilation peak amplitude. Two-factor (task, stimulus type) repeated measurement ANOVA was used to analyze the calculated pupil dilation peak amplitude. ANOVA showed the interaction between tasks and stimulus types $[F(3, 36) = 2.948, p = 0.045, \eta^2 = 0.19]$. The simple main effect test (Bonferroni method) for this interaction showed a significant difference trend in the task effect for the HL stimulus type $[F(1, 12) = 3.692, p = 0.079, \eta^2 = 0.23]$. In addition, the stimulus types showed a main effect in the symmetry evaluation task $[F(3, 36) = 3.884, p = 0.016, \eta^2 = 0.25]$. Multiple comparisons showed that the increase in pupil dilation was significantly lower in the HL stimulus type than in the LL stimulus type (p < 0.05).

Dilation peak difference

Figure 4.5 B shows the pupil dilation peak amplitude difference between tasks based on each stimulus type. The amplitude difference between tasks was larger in the HL stimulus type than in other stimulus types. One-way repeated measure ANOVA was used to analyze the calculated peak amplitude difference between tasks, and there was a significant effect $[F(3, 36) = 2.993, p = 0.0435, \eta^2 = 0.19]$.

Multiple comparisons found a significant difference tendency in the HL stimulus type, and the amplitude difference between tasks was larger in the HL stimulus type than in the HH stimulus type (p < 0.1).



Figure 4.5: A) Peak amplitudes of the pupil dilation at each task. The black bar indicates the peak amplitude value during the face-likeness evaluation task, and the white bar indicates the peak amplitude value during the symmetry evaluation task. The error bar shows the standard error between subjects. B) the absolute difference between the peak amplitude value during the face-likeness evaluation task and the peak amplitude value during the symmetry evaluation task. The black bar indicates the HH stimulus type, the dark gray bar indicates the LH stimulus type, the light gray bar indicates the LL stimulus type, and the white bar indicates the HL stimulus type.

Constriction peak amplitude

Differences in the pupil constriction peak amplitudes between tasks were compared between stimulus types. Two-factor repeated ANOVA (task, stimulus type) was used to analyze the calculated peak amplitude, and all factors had no significant effect.

Mean pupil dilation amplitudes after stimulus presentation

The dilation amount of the pupillary response for two seconds after the stimulus presentation was averaged in each stimulus type. Figure 4.6 shows the average pupil dilation amount in each stimulus type. Two-way repeated measure ANOVA was used to analyze the calculated average pupil dilation amount, and interaction between tasks and stimulus types was observed $[F(3, 36) = 2.265, p = 0.0975, \eta^2 = 0.16]$. The simple main effect test (Bonferroni method) for this interaction showed a significant tendency in task effects in the HL stimulus type $[F(1, 12) = 3.255, p = 0.096, \eta^2 = 0.21]$.



Figure 4.6: The black bar indicates the average pupil dilation response during the face-likeness evaluation task, and the white bar indicates the average pupil dilation response during the symmetry evaluation task.

4.4 Discussion

The purpose of this study was to observe the effects of bottom-up and top-down processing on the pareidolia phenomenon. We compared the pupillary responses between two different tasks when face-like stimuli were presented. Large pupil dilation was observed for the facelike stimulus only in the face-likeness evaluation task, and such a pupillary response was not observed in the symmetrical evaluation task. Therefore, in the pupillary response, the effect of top-down processing on pareidolia was observed, but that of bottom-up processing was not.

4.4.1 Perception in behavioral indexes

Behavioral analysis results showed that the response rate of high face-like stimuli was higher in the face-likeness evaluation task, and the response rate of high symmetrical stimuli was high in the symmetry evaluation task. Furthermore, in the face-likeness evaluation task, the stimuli of the HL stimulus type were judged to be faces; however, in the symmetry evaluation task, they were judged not to be symmetrical. Therefore, the HL stimulus type affected in the facelikeness evaluation task leads to a cognitive bias to evaluate face-likeness. The same findings were observed in the LH stimulus type. Based on the behavioral results, it is possible to observe the face-likeness perception affected by Bottom-up and Top-down processing by comparing the pupil diameter responses of HL and LH stimulus types at each task.

4.4.2 Dilation peak amplitude difference between conditions

Different pupillary responses have been observed for different tasks and different stimulus types. We hypothesized that the same pupillary response is observed regardless of the tasks if the bottom-up processing for the pareidolia phenomenon is affected. As shown in Figure 4.5, the HH stimulus types did not depend on the tasks, and the pupil dilation peak amplitude was high. However, Gee et al. [113] suggested that the decision made during the tasks affects the pupillary response, and the pupil dilation increases as a bias to the pupillary response to the "Yes" response of the two Alternative Forced Choice Tasks. Therefore, these biases seem to increase the pupil dilation without depending on the tasks.

Similarly, the pupil dilation increased due to decision-making bias in the HL stimulus type during the face-likeness evaluation task and in the LH stimulus type during the symmetry evaluation task. However, in the LL stimulus type during the symmetry evaluation task, the pupil dilation increased despite no decision-making bias; accordingly, it was unlikely that only the decision-making bias affected the pupil dilation. Thus, a bias different from the decisionmaking bias occurs in the LL stimulus type during the symmetry evaluation task. On the other hand, the pupil dilation decreased in the HL stimulus type in the symmetry evaluation task under the same environment. If a bias occurs, it is expected that the pupil dilation will increase as observed in the LL stimulus type. However, such bias did not occur in the HL stimulus type, and in contrast, pupil dilation decreased. Based on these results, the effect of the bottom-up processing on the pareidolia phenomenon was not reflected in the pupil diameter response, and different pupil diameter responses were observed for different tasks and stimulus types.

The pupil dilation decreased in the HL stimulus type during the symmetry evaluation task, probably due to the suppression effect by top-down processing. Gazzaley et al. [120] suggested that the top-down effect enhances or suppresses the magnitude and speed of neural activity. Therefore, pupil dilation is reduced in the HL stimulus type during the symmetry evaluation task, and the face-likeness judgment is suppressed by the top-down effect. However, the suppression effect due to the top-down effect might occur not only in the symmetry evaluation task but also in the LH stimulus type in the face-likeness evaluation task. Nevertheless, the reduction of pupil dilation was not observed in the LH stimulus type in the face-likeness evaluation task. The findings suggest that the HL stimulus type in the symmetry evaluation task has a stronger suppression effect than the LH stimulus type during the face-likeness evaluation task. However, the suppression effect due to the top-down effect might occur not only in the symmetry evaluation task but also in the LH stimulus type in the face-likeness evaluation task. However, the suppression effect due to the top-down effect might occur not only in the symmetry evaluation task but also in the LH stimulus type in the face-likeness evaluation task. Nevertheless, the reduction of the pupil dilation was not observed in the LH stimulus type in the face-likeness evaluation task, and such suppression effect was not observed in the pupil constriction. Thus, face perception may be prioritized over other visual perceptions.

4.4.3 Dilation amplitude differences after stimulus onset

As shown in Figures 4.4, not only the pupil dilation peak amplitude in the HL stimulus type but also the pupil dilation response after the presentation of the stimulus showed large difference depending on the tasks. However, similar changes in the pupil dilation response were not observed in other stimulus types. Hossain and Yeasin [121] suggested that the pupil dilation is associated with cognitive load. Therefore, the pupil dilation response in the HL stimulus type is related to the cognitive load of stimuli. In other stimulus types, facial parts were placed in the center of the outline of a face; thus, the cognitive load as described above was small, and the pupil dilation responses did not change between tasks. Because this cognitive load was observed only in the face-likeness evaluation task, the difference in the pupil dilation response in the HL stimulus type is considered to be due to the effect of face perception.

4.4.4 Pupillary response on pareidolia

The suppression effect was observed in the pupil dilation peak amplitude during the symmetry evaluation task. Furthermore, a difference was observed between the tasks in the pupil dilation response after stimulus presentation in the HL stimulus type. The pupil dilation has been reported to reflect the response of the sympathetic nervous system [117] [122]. Accordingly, these results suggest that the pareidolia phenomenon is associated with sympathetic responses. In addition, Bradley et al., [117] suggested that the pupil dilation is affected by the amygdala. Face perception processing has been reported in the subcortical pathway via the amygdala [10]. These results suggest that the pupil dilation response in the HL stimulus type is related to face perception processing. Moreover, it has been demonstrated that gaze cueing and visual search enhancement caused by the pareidolia phenomenon only occur when face-like stimuli are previously recognized as faces [24] [25] [23]. The difference in the pupil dilation observed in this study reflects the top-down effect in the pareidolia phenomenon.

4.4.5 Conclusions

The purpose of this study was to observe the effects of bottom-up and top-down processing on the pareidolia phenomenon. We investigated the pupil diameter response when face-like stimuli were presented, and we observed that the suppression effect was induced to make it difficult to produce face perception in the symmetry evaluation. These results suggest that face-like perception is suppressed by the top-down effect in the task that does not judge face-likeness, and this suppression effect can be observed in the pupil dilation; in addition, the pareidolia phenomenon affects the pupil diameter response, and this study provides a new non-invasive measurement method for the pareidolia phenomenon.
Chapter 5

Face-like perception effects on preference

5.1 Introduction

When humans encounter a meaningful stimulus, their attention increases reflexively [123]. Sudden or unexpected reflexive reactions to important stimuli are known as orienting responses [124] [125]. This innate sensitivity results in a "reflexive response to environmental stimuli so that there is a transient orientation to the stimulus" [126]. The orienting response is not necessarily consistent with the overt behavioral response, but it "helps enhance information processing and prepares or promotes rapid action on evoked stimuli" [127]. The psychological studies have indicated that both novel and meaningful stimuli elicit orientating responses [128] [129]. Novel stimuli are unknown or unexpected stimuli, but meaningful stimuli (e.g., faces) might convey information related to the individual and possible emotion. It has been suggested that orienting responses can be induced by familiar stimuli (such as the face) that are particularly important for humans [130] [131] [124]. Notably, these psychological studies emphasize "the existence of bias that preferentially directs attention to the face at the expense of other non-facial stimuli" [132]. It can be argued that the face is the most biologically and socially important visual stimulus in the human environment. Accordingly, humans have a special ability to attract attention and provide meaningful information. Previous studies have argued that this adaptation process creates facial attention bias [133]. Due to their social and biological importance, faces are enhanced in competition for attention [134] [135].

Psychological studies claim that the face usually attracts more attention than other visual stimuli [136] [137] [138]. Humans tend to perceive faces from various objects. Furthermore,

face recognition occurs even if there is no actual face [139]. This phenomenon is known as pareidolia [140] [141] [13]. This susceptibility to face-like patterns not only is socially significant for recognizing natural faces but also tends to unconsciously seek familiar images with new perceptual inputs [142] [143] [13]. All the faces have a basic T-shaped configuration consisting of two eyes, nose, and mouth. This pattern represents a template for quickly distinguishing faces from other visual stimuli in the surrounding environment [144]. Humans tend to look at the faces of objects characterized by a T-shaped configuration. Therefore, sequences that are standardized as emoticons are immediately recognized as faces [140].

The pareidolia phenomenon affects not only simple visual illusion but also our behavior. It is reported that gaze-cue that effect joint attention, which is important in communication, is also caused by this phenomenon. Visual detection is facilitated by the pareidolia phenomenon. However, these effects do not occur unless the face is recognized [24] [25] [23]. We hypothesized that a face-like object also elicits an orienting response and attracts more attention than other visual stimuli. However, the effect does not occur unless a face-like object is recognized as a face. The present study investigated whether seeing objects as a face would influence preference.

5.2 Materials and methods

5.2.1 Participants

Twenty-five healthy, right-handed volunteers (age: 23–27 years, 1 female) with normal or corrected-to-normal vision participated in this study. Informed written consent was obtained from participants after procedural details had been explained. The Committee for Human Research of Toyohashi University of Technology approved experimental procedures. Four other participants were excluded because they did not fulfill the inclusion criteria.

5.2.2 Stimuli

The stimuli were 50 grayscale face-like images $(200 \times 200 \text{ pixel})$ that produced by pareidoloop (Figure 5.1). The pareidoloop software generates images by randomly superimposing polygons and calculates a face detection confidence score by a face detector when an image is generated. This software generates images repeatedly so that the calculated face detection confidence score exceeds the set confidence value. We set the confidence score to 35 (maximum) and used images with a score of 30 or higher for this experiment. The orientation of the generated image was defined as the original orientation (upright). During the stimulation sequence, each image

appeared on a uniform grey background and subtended 1.909° of visual angle. A small black fixation cross (subtending 0.381° of visual angle) overlaid the images throughout the sequence. Each stimulus was presented in 2 different orientations, either upright or inverted 180°.



Figure 5.1: Example of stimuli.

5.2.3 Procedure

Participants performed the experiment under non-uniform lighting in the room. The stimulus presentation was controlled by Psychlops WebGL [145],, and the stimuli were presented on a tablet (iPad gen. 7th, Apple Inc.). The viewing distance was about 50 cm. The participants performed the following two tasks. Preference task: Participants were instructed to respond in front of a monitor to select more preferred one in the two alternatives forced-choice (2AFC) task. They had to watch 50 different pairs (upright vs. inverted) of face-like images and choose one preferred image by pressing either the left or the right side (Figure 5.2).

Face-likeness evaluation task: Participants were instructed to perform face-like evaluation tasks and provided their responses by pressing 1 of 5 buttons on the tablet screen. They rated face-likeness on a 5-point scale from 1 (non-face-likeness) to 5 (most face-likeness) and were requested to respond. Participants performed a total of 100 trials (50 stimuli in each orientation), and the stimuli were presented in a pseudo-random order (Figure 5.3). We divided the participants into two groups in the order in which the tasks were performed. The group that first performed "Face-likeness evaluation task" and then performed "Preference task" was defined as "Face biased group". The other group that first performed "Preference task" and then "Face-likeness evaluation task" was defined as "No face biased group".



Figure 5.2: The procedure of the preference task.



Figure 5.3: The procedure of the face-likeness evaluation task.

5.2.4 Analysis

Face-likeness evaluation analysis

Face-likeness scores were computed for each group and condition and were subjected to repeated ANOVAs with Face bias or No face bias as between-subject factors and orientation (Upright vs. Inverted) as within-subject factors.

Preference analysis

The preference selectivity rate was evaluated by means of a 1-sample t-test to determine whether the effect was significantly different from 0.5. Furthermore, the preference selectivity rate was computed for each group and condition and was subjected to repeated ANOVAs with Face bias or No face bias as between-subject factors and orientation (Upright vs. Inverted) as within-subject factors.

Correlation analysis

Pearson' s correlation analysis was performed between the preference selectivity rate and the face-likeness evaluation score for each orientation in each group. For the preference selectivity rate, we calculated the average selectivity rate of each stimulus, and for the face-likeness evaluation score, we calculated the average value of each stimulus.

5.3 Results

5.3.1 Face-likeness score

We first inspected the face-likeness score for the face-like stimuli across our two groups. (Figure 5.4). There were no main effects and significant interactions.



Figure 5.4: Results of the face-likeness evaluation.

5.3.2 Preference selectivity rate

The preference selectivity rate was then compared with a 1-sample t-test against 0.5, showing a significant selectivity rate for the face bias group in both orientations (p < 0.05). Furthermore, we calculated the preference selectivity for the face-like stimuli across our two groups. (Figure 5.5). There were main effects of Condition[$F(1, 11) = 8.728, p = 0.013, \eta^2 = 0.272$]. Moreover, the following interactions were found: Group × Condition($F(1, 11) = 12.334, p = 0.005, \eta^2 = 0.385$). In the interaction between groups, the upright and inverted selectivity in the face-biased and the no face-biased groups showed a significant difference between groups (Upright: $p < 0.01, \eta^2 = 0.52$ and Inverted: $p < 0.01, \eta^2 = 0.52$). Furthermore, in the face-biased group, the upright condition than in the inverted condition ($p < 0.001, \eta^2 = 0.78$).



Figure 5.5: Results of the preference selectivity.

5.3.3 Correlation between the preference and the face-like score

We calculated the correlation between the preference selectivity rate and the face-likeness evaluation score for each orientation in each group (Figure 5.6 - 5.7). In the upright orientation, a significant correlation was observed between the preference selectivity and the face-like score in the face-biased group (r = 0.42, p < 0.001), but not in the no face-biased group (r = 0.19, p = 0.19). Furthermore, in the inverted orientation, a significant correlation was observed between the preference selectivity and the face-like score in the face-biased group (r = -0.37, p < 0.001), but not in the no face-biased group (r = -0.058, p = 0.69).



Figure 5.6: Correlation between the preference and the face-likeness evaluation score in the upright orientation. Correlation maps in the face-biased group (Left) and in the no face-biased group (Right).



Figure 5.7: Correlation between the preference and the face-likeness evaluation score in the inverted orientation. Correlation maps in the face-biased group (Left) and in the no face-biased group (Right).

5.4 Discussion

The present study investigated whether seeing objects as faces affects preference using presented stimuli that could be perceived as a face or abstract painting. This study compared the following two groups: One group was biased so that the presented stimulus was perceived as a face, and another group was not. The face-biased group first performed a face-likeness evaluation task and was then presented a pair of the upright and inverted face-like stimuli. The no face-biased group first performed the preference task and then performed the face-likeness evaluation task. The results showed that the preference in the face-biased group was higher for upright stimuli than for inverted stimuli. On the other hand, there was no difference in the preference between upright and inverted stimuli in the no face-biased group. In both groups, the face-likeness evaluation score was not significantly different regardless of orientation. These results suggest that face awareness induces and strengthens preference. The task of perceiving the stimulus as a face (face-likeness evaluation task) was sufficient to improve preference. The preference enhancement for the upright stimuli was only made if participants perceived face. Previous studies have shown that facial recognition improves when participants are instructed to look at ambiguous patterns as a face [23]. In the present study, the results showed that face recognition was improved, and the preference for the face-like stimuli improved by seeing an ambiguous pattern as a face, as demonstrated in the previous study.

These results are consistent with those in previous EEG studies, which showed the topdown modulation on N170 [146] and correlation with face awareness [147] [148] [149]. For example, ambiguous patterns elicited greater N170 activity after perceiving as a face or when ambiguous patterns were reported as a face. Based on the results of these studies, seeing something like a face elicits a face-specific process, and this top-down modulation may thus enhance the detection of face-like patterns.

Moreover, it has been reported that visual attention is captured by faces [150] [151]. On the other hand, it has been shown that a face-like object has no effect on capturing visual attention [152]. However, since this study demonstrated the visual attention of face-like objects using other tasks, it is possible that visual attention might be captured by face-like objects perceived as a face in the task with a stimulus by 2AFC.

The gaze behavior, which is involved in decision making in preference judgment [153], is well known as "the gaze cascade." The decision-making process in the gaze cascade is modeled and consists of two systems, a "cognitive assessment system" and an "orienting behavior." The cognitive assessment system compares the template and target stimulus about the attractiveness learned by experience and outputs a signal. The orienting behavior outputs a signal from the

movement of the gaze to the target. Furthermore, these signals are sent to the decision-making module; the decision is made when the integrated signal exceeds the threshold, and the feedback is made to each system when the integrated signal does not exceed the threshold. The orienting behavior is induced by the feedback, the number of contacts with the stimulus increases, and the preference for the stimulus improves. This process is considered a "Mere exposure effect." In addition, preferential fixation works for favorable stimuli; therefore, the number of contacts with the stimuli increases. Thus, it is assumed that the stimulus preference is improved, and the synergistic action of the mere exposure effect and preferential fixation makes the conscious preference judgment.

The present study suggests that the cognitive assessment system evaluates the facial pattern, and the orienting behavior exerts the mere exposure effect by seeing an object as a face; moreover, preferential fixation works by visual attention to face-like patterns, and the preference is further improved.

Chapter 6

Conclusions

6.1 Face-likeness perception dynamics

We clarified the dynamics of the pareidolia phenomenon using face-sensitive ERP (Chapter 2).

Purpose

- 1. To investigate at what stage of face processing the judgment of the face-likeness occurs.
- 2. To examine whether the inversion effect index of the N170 component actually reflects face-likeness by observing the correlation between the ERP components and behavioral reports of face-likeness.

Contribution

- 1. We confirmed that the face-likeness judgment is accomplished early in the visual cortex of the brain.
- 2. The inversion effect index of the face-sensitive ERP reflects face-likeness.

In this study, we examined the correlation between the face-likeness evaluation on the stimulus and the inversion effect index of each ERP component, and significant correlations were observed in the P1 component and the N170 component. These results suggest that the face-like processing or face-ness detection is performed in the early visual cortex, and these processes affect face-likeness judgment. Accordingly, face processing and face-like processing

consist of the following steps. Rough face processing, including detecting the existing shapes as eye-like, nose-like, or mouth-like, is performed in the earlier visual stages represented by P1, while detailed face processing is performed in the face detection stages represented by N170. The process of P1 to N170 components in this study may thus reflect face-likeness judgment. Furthermore, these results suggest that the face inversion index can be used as an indicator of face-likeness in early face processing.

6.2 Bottom-up and Top-down process in face pareidolia

We investigated how both aspects of bottom-up processing and top-down modulation contribute to face-likeness perception using EEG and pupillometry. (Chapter 3, 4, and 5). We examined the attentional modulation of rapid and automatic face-likeness detection captured by FPVS-EEG (Chapter 3). Moreover, we determined the contribution of bottom-up and top-down to the face pareidolia phenomenon using the pupillary response (Chapter 4). In addition, we tested whether seeing objects as a face would influence behavior (Chapter 5).

Purpose

- 1. To Investigate how both aspects of bottom-up processing and top-down modulation contribute to face-likeness perception.
- 2. To clarify how biological signals change due to the pareidolia phenomenon.
- 3. To determine whether the pareidolia phenomenon does affect to behavior.

Contribution

- 1. The pareidolia phenomenon does not occur at least in the bottom-up process.
- 2. The pareidolia phenomenon is not enhanced in the task involving the human face.
- 3. The pupil diameter is dilated by attending to face-likeness.
- 4. A preference for face-like stimuli emerges only if the stimuli are recognized as face-likeness.

We showed that the visual system discriminated faces automatically and rapidly in the absence of explicit attention to faces, but not face-like objects. The visual system may have a cognitive mechanism discriminating real faces from face-like objects. In addition, in the pupil response, the enhancing effect was produced in the face-like condition, and the suppression effect was induced to make it difficult to produce face perception in the symmetry evaluation. Our findings suggest that the pareidolia phenomenon affects the pupil diameter response; the cognitive assessment system evaluates the facial pattern, and the orienting behavior exerts the mere exposure effect by seeing an object as a face. Moreover, preferential fixation works by visual attention to face-like patterns, and the preference is further improved.

6.3 Future works

This study aimed to elucidate the cognitive mechanism of the pareidolia phenomenon in the human brain. In recent years, new communication methods other than face-to-face communication, such as the Internet and SNS, have become common; thus, it is possible that communication using avatars and simple patterns as a face will become more frequent. Therefore, further studies are needed to investigate the cognitive ability and processing of new social stimuli that are treated like faces, but not human faces, to improve future social life. Furthermore, to clarify these cognitive processing mechanisms, future studies are needed to improve the avatar manufacturing technology and communication with robots.

References

- R. L. Fantz, "The origin of form perception.," *Scientific American* 204, pp. 66–72, may 1961.
- [2] R. L. Fantz, "Pattern vision in newborn infants," Science 140, pp. 296–297, apr 1963.
- [3] R. L. Fantz and J. F. Fagan, "Visual attention to size and number of pattern details by term and preterm infants during the first six months," *Child Develop.* 46, pp. 3–18, mar 1975.
- [4] R. L. Fantz and J. Yeh, "Configurational selectivities: critical for development of visual perception and attention.," *Canadian journal of psychology* 33, pp. 277–287, dec 1979.
- [5] C. C. Goren, M. Sarty, and P. Y. Wu, "Visual following and pattern discrimination of face like stimuli by newborn infants," *Pediatrics* 56, pp. 544–549, oct 1975.
- [6] F. Simion, E. Valenza, V. M. Cassia, C. Turati, and C. Umiltà, "Newborns' preference for up-down asymmetrical configurations," *Developmental Science* 5, pp. 427–434, nov 2002.
- [7] E. McKone and K. Crookes, "Understanding the Developmental Origins of Primate Face Recognition: Theoretical Commentary on Martin-Malivel and Okada (2007)," *Behavioral Neuroscience* **121**(6), pp. 1437–1441, 2007.
- [8] A. J. Calder and A. W. Young, "Understanding the recognition of facial identity and facial expression," *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* **6**, pp. 641–651, aug 2005.
- [9] J. V. Haxby, E. A. Hoffman, and M. I. Gobbini, "The distributed human neural system for face perception," *Trends in Cognitive Sciences* 4, pp. 223–233, jun 2000.

- [10] B. De Gelder, I. Frissen, J. Barton, and N. Hadjikhani, "A modulatory role for facial expressions in prosopagnosia," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the* United States of America 100, pp. 13105–13110, oct 2003.
- [11] J. S. Winston, P. Vuilleumier, and R. J. Dolan, "Effects of low-spatial frequency components of fearful faces on fusiform cortex activity," *Current Biology* 13(20), pp. 1824–1829, 2003.
- [12] N. Hadjikhan, K. Kveraga, P. Naik, and S. P. Ahlfors, "Early (M170) activation of facespecific cortex by face-like objects," *NeuroReport* 20, pp. 403–407, mar 2009.
- [13] J. Liu, J. Li, L. Feng, L. Li, J. Tian, and K. Lee, "Seeing Jesus in toast: Neural and behavioral correlates of face pareidolia," *Cortex* 53, pp. 60–77, apr 2014.
- [14] G. Akdeniz, S. Toker, and I. Atli, "Neural mechanisms underlying visual pareidolia processing: An fMRI study," *Pakistan Journal of Medical Sciences* 34, pp. 1560–1566, nov 2018.
- [15] S. C. Chong, S. Jo, K. M. Park, E. Y. Joo, M. J. Lee, S. C. Hong, and S. B. Hong, "Interaction between the electrical stimulation of a face-selective area and the perception of face stimuli," *NeuroImage* 77, pp. 70–76, aug 2013.
- [16] C. J. Keller, I. Davidesco, P. Megevand, F. A. Lado, R. Malach, and A. D. Mehta, "Tuning face perception with electrical stimulation of the fusiform gyrus," *Human Brain Mapping* 38, pp. 2830–2842, jun 2017.
- [17] B. Rossion, K. Torfs, C. Jacques, and J. Liu-Shuang, "Fast periodic presentation of natural images reveals a robust face-selective electrophysiological response in the human brain," *Journal of Vision* 15, pp. 1–18, jan 2015.
- [18] I. M. White and S. P. Wise, "Rule-dependent neuronal activity in the prefrontal cortex," *Experimental Brain Research* 126(3), pp. 315–335, 1999.
- [19] J. D. Wallis, K. C. Anderson, and E. K. Miller, "Single neurons in prefrontal cortex encode abstract roles," *Nature* 411, pp. 953–956, jun 2001.
- [20] A. Genovesio, P. J. Brasted, A. R. Mitz, and S. P. Wise, "Prefrontal cortex activity related to abstract response strategies," *Neuron* 47, pp. 307–320, jul 2005.

- [21] D. J. Barraclough, M. L. Conroy, and D. Lee, "Prefrontal cortex and decision making in a mixed-strategy game," *Nature Neuroscience* 7, pp. 404–410, apr 2004.
- [22] E. K. Miller, A. Nieder, D. J. Freedman, and J. D. Wallis, "Neural correlates of categories and concepts," *Current opinion in neurobiology* 13(2), pp. 198–203, 2003.
- [23] K. Takahashi and K. Watanabe, "Seeing objects as faces enhances object detection," *i-Perception* 6, pp. 1–14, sep 2015.
- [24] K. Takahashi and K. Watanabe, "Gaze cueing by pareidolia faces," *i-Perception* 4, pp. 490–492, jan 2013.
- [25] K. Takahashi and K. Watanabe, "Seeing objects as face modulates visual search performance," in 2014 Asia-Pacific Signal and Information Processing Association Annual Summit and Conference, APSIPA 2014, pp. 1–5, IEEE, dec 2014.
- [26] W. K. Klatt, A. Chesham, and J. S. Lobmaier, "Putting up a big front: Car design and size affect road-crossing behaviour," *PLoS ONE* 11, p. e0159455, jul 2016.
- [27] G. Guido, M. Pichierri, G. Pino, and R. Nataraajan, "Effects of face images and face pareidolia on consumers' responses to print advertising: An empirical investigation," *Journal of Advertising Research* 59(2), pp. 219–231, 2019.
- [28] M. Kato and R. Mugitani, "Pareidolia in infants," PLoS ONE 10, p. e0118539, jan 2015.
- [29] N. Kanwisher, J. McDermott, and M. M. Chun, "The fusiform face area: A module in human extrastriate cortex specialized for face perception," *Journal of Neuroscience* 17, pp. 4302–4311, jun 1997.
- [30] L. Boutsen, G. W. Humphrey, P. Praamstra, and T. Warbrick, "Comparing neural correlates of configural processing in faces and objects: An ERP study of the thatcher illusion," *NeuroImage* 32, pp. 352–367, aug 2006.
- [31] M. Eimer, "Effects of face inversion on the structural encoding and recognition of faces -Evidence from event-related brain potentials," *Cognitive Brain Research* 10(1-2), pp. 145– 158, 2000.
- [32] R. J. Itier and M. J. Taylor, "Effects of repetition learning on upright, inverted and contrast-reversed face processing using ERPs," *NeuroImage* 21, pp. 1518–1532, apr 2004.

- [33] B. Rossion and A. Boremanse, "Robust sensitivity to facial identity in the right human occipito-temporal cortex as revealed by steady-state visual-evoked potentials," *Journal* of Vision 11, pp. 16–16, feb 2011.
- [34] G. Ganis, D. Smith, and H. E. Schendan, "The N170, not the P1, indexes the earliest time for categorical perception of faces, regardless of interstimulus variance," *NeuroImage* 62, pp. 1563–1574, sep 2012.
- [35] B. Rossion, L. Dricot, R. Goebel, and T. Busigny, "Holistic face categorization in higher order visual areas of the normal and prosopagnosic brain: toward a non-hierarchical view of face perception," *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience* 4, p. 225, 2011.
- [36] K. Bötzel and O. J. Grüsser, "Electric brain potentials evoked by pictures of faces and non-faces: a search for "face-specific" EEG-potentials," *Experimental Brain Research* 77, pp. 349–360, sep 1989.
- [37] R. J. Itier, P. Van Roon, and C. Alain, "Species sensitivity of early face and eye processing," *NeuroImage* 54, pp. 705–713, jan 2011.
- [38] M. Eimer, "Effects of face inversion on the structural encoding and recognition of faces -Evidence from event-related brain potentials," *Cognitive Brain Research* 10, pp. 145–158, sep 2000.
- [39] S. Caharel, A. Leleu, C. Bernard, M. P. Viggiano, R. Lalonde, and M. Rebaï, "Early holistic face-like processing of Arcimboldo paintings in the right occipito-temporal cortex: Evidence from the N170 ERP component," *International Journal of Psychophysiology* 90, pp. 157–164, nov 2013.
- [40] L. A. Hillger and O. Koenig, "Separable mechanisms in face processing: evidence from hemispheric specialization.," *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience* 3, pp. 42–58, jan 1991.
- [41] N. Sagiv and S. Bentin, "Structural encoding of human and schematic faces: Holistic and part-based processes," *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience* 13(7), pp. 937–951, 2001.
- [42] J. W. Tanaka and T. Curran, "A Neural Basis for Expert Object Recognition," Psychological Science 12, pp. 43–47, jan 2001.
- [43] R. K. Yin, "Looking at upide-down faces," Journal of Experimental Psychology 81(1), pp. 141–145, 1969.

- [44] J. W. Tanaka and M. J. Farah, "Parts and Wholes in Face Recognition," The Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology Section A 46, pp. 225–245, may 1993.
- [45] M. J. Farah, K. D. Wilson, H. M. Drain, and J. R. Tanaka, "The inverted face inversion effect in prosopagnosia: evidence for mandatory, face-specific perceptual mechanisms.," *Vision research* 35, pp. 2089–2093, jul 1995.
- [46] A. Freire, K. Lee, and L. A. Symons, "The face-inversion effect as a deficit in the encoding of configural information: Direct evidence," *Perception* 29, pp. 159–170, jan 2000.
- [47] H. Leder, G. Candrian, O. Huber, and V. Bruce, "Configural features in the context of upright and inverted faces.," *Perception* 30, pp. 73–83, jan 2001.
- [48] D. Maurer, K. M. O'Craven, R. Le Grand, C. J. Mondloch, M. V. Springer, T. L. Lewis, and C. L. Grady, "Neural correlates of processing facial identity based on features versus their spacing," *Neuropsychologia* 45, pp. 1438–1451, apr 2007.
- [49] C. L. Reed, V. E. Stone, J. D. Grubb, and J. E. McGoldrick, "Turning configural processing upside down: part and whole body postures.," *Journal of experimental psychology. Human perception and performance* 32, pp. 73–87, feb 2006.
- [50] K. Linkenkaer-Hansen, J. M. Palva, M. Sams, J. K. Hietanen, H. J. Aronen, and R. J. Ilmoniemi, "Face-selective processing in human extrastriate cortex around 120 ms after stimulus onset revealed by magneto- and electroencephalography.," *Neuroscience letters* 253, pp. 147–150, sep 1998.
- [51] B. Rossion, J. F. Delvenne, D. Debatisse, V. Goffaux, R. Bruyer, M. Crommelinck, and J. M. Guérit, "Spatio-temporal localization of the face inversion effect: An event-related potentials study," *Biological Psychology* 50, pp. 173–189, jul 1999.
- [52] B. Rossion, I. Gauthier, M. J. Tarr, D. Pierenne, D. Debatisse, and P. A. Despland, "The N170 occipito-temporal component is delayed to inverted faces but not to inverted objects: Electrophysiological evidence of face-specific processes in the human brain," *NeuroImage* 9(6 PART II), pp. 69–74, 1999.
- [53] B. Rossion, C. A. Joyce, G. W. Cottrell, and M. J. Tarr, "Early lateralization and orientation tuning for face, word, and object processing in the visual cortex," *NeuroImage* 20, pp. 1609–1624, nov 2003.

- [54] G. Yovel and N. Kanwisher, "The neural basis of the behavioral face-inversion effect," *Current Biology* 15, pp. 2256–2262, dec 2005.
- [55] N. Davidenko, D. A. Remus, and K. Grill-Spector, "Face-likeness and image variability drive responses in human face-selective ventral regions," *Human Brain Mapping* 33, pp. 2334–2349, oct 2012.
- [56] S. G. Boehm, B. Dering, and G. Thierry, "Category-sensitivity in the N170 range: a question of topography and inversion, not one of amplitude," *Neuropsychologia* 49(7), pp. 2082–2089, 2011.
- [57] T. Liu, S. Mu, H. He, L. Zhang, C. Fan, J. Ren, M. Zhang, W. He, and W. Luo, "The N170 component is sensitive to face-like stimuli: a study of Chinese Peking opera makeup," 10, pp. 535–541, jul 2016.
- [58] O. Churches, S. Baron-Cohen, and H. Ring, "Seeing face-like objects: An event-related potential study," *NeuroReport* 20, pp. 1290–1294, sep 2009.
- [59] B. Dering, C. D. Martin, S. Moro, A. J. Pegna, and G. Thierry, "Face-Sensitive Processes One Hundred Milliseconds after Picture Onset," *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience* 5, p. 93, 2011.
- [60] N. C. Ebner, M. Riediger, and U. Lindenberger, "FACES-a database of facial expressions in young, middle-aged, and older women and men: Development and validation," *Behavior Research Methods* 42, pp. 351–362, feb 2010.
- [61] A. Delorme and S. Makeig, "EEGLAB: An open source toolbox for analysis of singletrial EEG dynamics including independent component analysis," *Journal of Neuroscience Methods* 134(1), pp. 9–21, 2004.
- [62] N. Kovacevic and A. R. McIntosh, "Groupwise independent component decomposition of EEG data and partial least square analysis," *NeuroImage* 35, pp. 1103–1112, apr 2007.
- [63] B. Sadeh and G. Yovel, "Why is the N170 enhanced for inverted faces? An ERP competition experiment," *NeuroImage* 53, pp. 782–789, nov 2010.
- [64] M. Suzuki and Y. Noguchi, "Reversal of the face-inversion effect in N170 under unconscious visual processing," *Neuropsychologia* 51, pp. 400–409, feb 2013.

- [65] C. R. Pernet, R. Wilcox, and G. A. Rousselet, "Robust correlation analyses: False positive and power validation using a new open source matlab toolbox," *Frontiers in Psychology* 3, p. 606, jan 2013.
- [66] R. J. Itier, M. Latinus, and M. J. Taylor, "Face, eye and object early processing: What is the face specificity?," *NeuroImage* 29, pp. 667–676, jan 2006.
- [67] H. Halit, M. De Haan, and M. H. Johnson, "Modulation of event-related potentials by prototypical and atypical faces," *NeuroReport* 11, pp. 1871–1875, jun 2000.
- [68] C.-A. Wang and D. P. Munoz, "A circuit for pupil orienting responses: implications for cognitive modulation of pupil size," *Current Opinion in Neurobiology* 33, pp. 134–140, aug 2015.
- [69] J. P. Keenan, S. Freund, R. H. Hamilton, G. Ganis, and A. Pascual-Leone, "Hand response differences in a self-face identification task," *Neuropsychologia* 38(7), pp. 1047–1053, 2000.
- [70] M. L. Gorno-Tempini, "Identification of famous faces and buildings: A functional neuroimaging study of semantically unique items," *Brain* 124(10), pp. 2087–2097, 2001.
- [71] S. R. Schweinberger, V. Huddy, and A. M. Burton, "N250r: A face-selective brain response to stimulus repetitions," *NeuroReport* 15, pp. 1501–1505, jun 2004.
- [72] W. Huang, X. Wu, L. Hu, L. Wang, Y. Ding, and Z. Qu, "Revisiting the earliest electrophysiological correlate of familiar face recognition," *International Journal of Psychophysiology* **120**, pp. 42–53, 2017.
- [73] A. M. Proverbio and J. Galli, "Women are better at seeing faces where there are none: An ERP study of face pareidolia," *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience* 11, pp. 1501– 1512, may 2016.
- [74] B. Balas and K. Koldewyn, "Early visual ERP sensitivity to the species and animacy of faces," *Neuropsychologia* 51(13), pp. 2876–2881, 2013.
- [75] K. Grill-Spector, N. Knouf, and N. Kanwisher, "The fusiform face area subserves face perception, not generic within-category identification," *Nature Neuroscience* 7, pp. 555– 562, may 2004.

REFERENCES

- [76] N. Kanwisher and G. Yovel, "The fusiform face area: A cortical region specialized for the perception of faces," *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 361, pp. 2109–2128, dec 2006.
- [77] R. Caldara and M. L. Seghier, "The fusiform face area responds automatically to statistical regularities optimal for face categorization," *Human Brain Mapping* 30, pp. 1615– 1625, may 2009.
- [78] M. Esterman and S. Yantis, "Perceptual expectation evokes category-selective cortical activity," *Cerebral Cortex* 20, pp. 1245–1253, may 2010.
- [79] A. M. Puri and E. Wojciulik, "Expectation both helps and hinders object perception," Vision Research 48, pp. 589–597, feb 2008.
- [80] M. L. Smith, F. Gosselin, and P. G. Schyns, "Measuring internal representations from behavioral and brain data," *Current Biology* 22, pp. 191–196, feb 2012.
- [81] C. Jacques, T. L. Retter, and B. Rossion, "A single glance at natural face images generate larger and qualitatively different category-selective spatio-temporal signatures than other ecologically-relevant categories in the human brain," *NeuroImage* 137, pp. 21–33, aug 2016.
- [82] J. Jonas, C. Jacques, J. Liu-Shuang, H. Brissart, S. Colnat-Coulbois, L. Maillard, and B. Rossion, "A face-selective ventral occipito-temporal map of the human brain with intracerebral potentials," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 113, pp. E4088–E4097, jul 2016.
- [83] T. L. Retter and B. Rossion, "Visual adaptation provides objective electrophysiological evidence of facial identity discrimination," *Cortex* 80, pp. 35–50, jan 2016.
- [84] A. Lochy, G. Van Belle, and B. Rossion, "A robust index of lexical representation in the left occipito-temporal cortex as evidenced by EEG responses to fast periodic visual stimulation," *Neuropsychologia* 66, pp. 18–31, jan 2015.
- [85] A. de Heering and B. Rossion, "Rapid categorization of natural face images in the infant right hemisphere," *eLife* 4, pp. 1–14, jan 2015.
- [86] G. A. Rousselet, M. J. Macé, and M. Fabre-Thorpe, "Is it an animal? Is it a human face? Fast processing in upright and inverted natural scenes," *Journal of Vision* 3, pp. 440–455, jul 2003.

- [87] S. M. Crouzet, H. Kirchner, and S. J. Thorpe, "Fast saccades toward faces: Face detection in just 100 ms," *Journal of Vision* 10(4), pp. 1–17, 2010.
- [88] S. M. Crouzet and S. J. Thorpe, "Low-level cues and ultra-fast face detection," Frontiers in psychology 2, p. 342, 2011.
- [89] Y. Nihei, T. Minami, and S. Nakauchi, "Brain activity related to the judgment of facelikeness: Correlation between eeg and face-like evaluation," *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience* 12, p. 56, feb 2018.
- [90] I. Boutet, A. Gentes-Hawn, and A. Chaudhuri, "The influence of attention on holistic face encoding," *Cognition* 84(3), pp. 321–341, 2002.
- [91] D. Baldauf and R. Desimone, "Neural Mechanisms of Object-Based Attention," Science 344, pp. 424–427, apr 2014.
- [92] V. P. Clark, K. Keil, J. M. Maisog, S. Courtney, L. G. Ungerleider, and J. V. Haxby, "Functional magnetic resonance imaging of human visual cortex during face matching: A comparison with positron emission tomography," *NeuroImage* 4(1), pp. 1–15, 1996.
- [93] M. L. Furey, T. Tanskanen, M. S. Beauchamp, S. Avikainen, K. Uutela, R. Hari, and J. V. Haxby, "Dissociation of face-selective cortical responses by attention," *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 103, pp. 1065–1070, jan 2006.
- [94] J. V. Haxby, B. Horwitz, L. G. Ungerleider, J. M. Maisog, P. Pietrini, and C. L. Grady, "The functional organization of human extrastriate cortex: A PET-rCBF study of selective attention to faces and locations," *Journal of Neuroscience* 14(11 I), pp. 6336–6353, 1994.
- [95] K. M. O'Craven, P. E. Downing, and N. Kanwisher, "fMRI evidence for objects as the units of attentional selection," *Nature* 401, pp. 584–587, oct 1999.
- [96] E. Wojciulik, N. Kanwisher, and J. Driver, "Covert Visual Attention Modulates Face-Specific Activity in the Human Fusiform Gyrus: fMRI Study," *Journal of Neurophysiol*ogy 79, pp. 1574–1578, mar 1998.
- [97] D. J. Yi, T. A. Kelley, R. Marois, and M. M. Chun, "Attentional modulation of repetition attenuation is anatomically dissociable for scenes and faces," in *Brain Research*, 1080, pp. 53–62, mar 2006.

- [98] A. D. Engell and G. McCarthy, "Selective attention modulates face-specific induced gamma oscillations recorded from ventral occipitotemporal cortex," *Journal of Neuroscience* **30**, pp. 8780–8786, jun 2010.
- [99] A. Lueschow, T. Sander, S. G. Boehm, G. Nolte, L. Trahms, and G. Curio, "Looking for faces: Attention modulates early occipitotemporal object processing," *Psychophysiol*ogy 41, pp. 350–360, may 2004.
- [100] M. Dzhelyova and B. Rossion, "Supra-additive contribution of shape and surface information to individual face discrimination as revealed by fast periodic visual stimulation," *Journal of Vision* 14(14), pp. 15–15, 2014.
- [101] J. Liu-Shuang, A. M. Norcia, and B. Rossion, "An objective index of individual face discrimination in the right occipito-temporal cortex by means of fast periodic oddball stimulation," *Neuropsychologia* 52, pp. 57–72, 2014.
- [102] G. L. Quek and B. Rossion, "Category-selective human brain processes elicited in fast periodic visual stimulation streams are immune to temporal predictability," *Neuropsychologia* **104**, pp. 182–200, sep 2017.
- [103] M. Kleiner, D. H. Brainard, D. G. Pelli, C. Broussard, T. Wolf, and D. Niehorster, "What's new in Psycholobox-3?," *Perception* 36, p. S14, 2007.
- [104] D. H. Brainard, "The Psychophysics Toolbox," Spatial Vision 10(4), pp. 433–436, 1997.
- [105] R. Oostenveld, P. Fries, E. Maris, and J. M. Schoffelen, "FieldTrip: Open source software for advanced analysis of MEG, EEG, and invasive electrophysiological data," *Computational Intelligence and Neuroscience* 2011, 2011.
- [106] B. Rossion, "Understanding individual face discrimination by means of fast periodic visual stimulation," *Experimental Brain Research* 232, pp. 1599–1621, jun 2014.
- [107] A. M. Norcia, L. Gregory Appelbaum, J. M. Ales, B. R. Cottereau, and B. Rossion, "The steady-state visual evoked potential in vision research: A review," *Journal of Vision* 15, pp. 1–46, may 2015.
- [108] B. Rossion, B. Hanseeuw, and L. Dricot, "Defining face perception areas in the human brain: A large-scale factorial fMRI face localizer analysis," *Brain and Cognition* 79(2), pp. 138–157, 2012.

- [109] M. Dzhelyova and B. Rossion, "The effect of parametric stimulus size variation on individual face discrimination indexed by fast periodic visual stimulation," *BMC Neuroscience* 15, p. 87, jan 2014.
- [110] J. Liu-Shuang, J. M. Ales, B. Rossion, and A. M. Norcia, "The effect of contrast polarity reversal on face detection: Evidence of perceptual asymmetry from sweep VEP," Vision Research 108, pp. 8–19, jan 2015.
- [111] X. Yan, J. Liu-Shuang, and B. Rossion, "Effect of face-related task on rapid individual face discrimination," *Neuropsychologia* **129**, pp. 236–245, jun 2019.
- [112] E. H. Hess, "Pupillometrics A method of studying mental, emotional, and sensory processes," *Handbook of psychophysiology*, pp. 491–531, 1972.
- [113] J. W. de Gee, T. Knapen, and T. H. Donner, "Decision-related pupil dilation reflects upcoming choice and individual bias.," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* of the United States of America 111, pp. E618–625, feb 2014.
- [114] J. L. Barbur and P. M. Forsyth, "Can the pupil response be used as a measure of the visual input associated with the geniculo-striate pathway?," *Clinical Vision Sciences* 1(1), pp. 107–111, 1986.
- [115] A. Sahraie and J. L. Barbur, "Pupil response triggered by the onset of coherent motion.," Graefe's archive for clinical and experimental ophthalmology = Albrecht von Graefes Archiv fur klinische und experimentelle Ophthalmologie 235, pp. 494–500, aug 1997.
- [116] J. L. Barbur, "Pupillary responses to grating stimuli," Journal of Psychophysiology 5(3), pp. 259–263, 1991.
- [117] M. M. Bradley, L. Miccoli, M. A. Escrig, and P. J. Lang, "The pupil as a measure of emotional arousal and autonomic activation," *Psychophysiology* 45, pp. 602–607, jul 2008.
- [118] B. Laeng, S. Sirois, and G. Gredebäck, "Pupillometry: A Window to the Preconscious?," *Perspectives on Psychological Science* 7, pp. 18–27, jan 2012.
- [119] C. A. Conway, B. C. Jones, L. M. DeBruine, A. C. Little, and A. Sahraie, "Transient pupil constrictions to faces are sensitive to orientation and species," *Journal of Vision* 8(3), pp. 1–11, 2008.

- [120] A. Gazzaley, J. W. Cooney, K. McEvoy, R. T. Knight, and M. D'Esposito, "Top-down Enhancement and Suppression of the Magnitude and Speed of Neural Activity," *Journal* of Cognitive Neuroscience 17, pp. 507–517, mar 2005.
- [121] G. Hossain and M. Yeasin, "Understanding Effects of Cognitive Load from Pupillary Responses Using Hilbert Analytic Phase," in 2014 IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition Workshops, pp. 381–386, IEEE, jun 2014.
- [122] T. Partala and V. Surakka, "Pupil size variation as an indication of affective processing," International Journal of Human Computer Studies 59, pp. 185–198, jul 2003.
- [123] P. J. Lang, M. M. Bradley, and B. N. Cuthbert, "Motivated attention: Affect, activation, and action.," in Attention and Orienting: Sensory and Motivational Processes, pp. 97– 135, Erlbraum, 1997.
- [124] A. G. Greenwald and C. Leavitt, "Audience involvement in advertising: Four levels," Journal of Consumer research 11(1), pp. 581–592, 1984.
- [125] E. N. Sokolov, "The orienting response, and future directions of its development," The Pavlovian Journal of Biological Science 25(3), pp. 142–150, 1990.
- [126] M. S. Graziano and S. Kastner, "Human consciousness and its relationship to social neuroscience: A novel hypothesis," *Cognitive Neuroscience* 2, pp. 98–113, jan 2011.
- [127] S. Nieuwenhuis, E. J. De Geus, and G. Aston-Jones, "The anatomical and functional relationship between the P3 and autonomic components of the orienting response," *Psychophysiology* 48, pp. 162–175, feb 2011.
- [128] S. Hackley and F. Graham, "Passive and active attention to input: Active (voluntary) attention and localized, selective orienting," *Handbook of cognitive psychophysiology*, pp. 299–356, 1991.
- [129] A. Ohman, "Automaticity and the amygdala: Nonconscious responses to emotional faces," *Current Directions in Psychological Science* 11, pp. 62–66, apr 2002.
- [130] C. Artuso, P. Palladino, and P. Ricciardelli, "Social updating: The role of gaze direction in updating and memorizing emotional faces," *Social Cognition* 33, pp. 543–561, 12 2015.
- [131] T. Ro, A. Friggel, and N. Lavie, "Attentional biases for faces and body parts," Visual Cognition 15, pp. 322–348, apr 2007.

- [132] P. Tomalski, G. Csibra, and M. H. Johnson, "Rapid orienting toward face-like stimuli with gaze-relevant contrast information," *Perception* 38, pp. 569–578, jan 2009.
- [133] A. Frischen, J. D. Eastwood, and D. Smilek, "Visual Search for Faces With Emotional Expressions," *Psychological Bulletin* 134, pp. 662–676, sep 2008.
- [134] M. Dekowska, M. Kuniecki, and P. Jaśkowski, "Facing facts: Neuronal mechanisms of face perception," 68(2), pp. 229–252, 2008.
- [135] O. Hershler and S. Hochstein, "At first sight: A high-level pop out effect for faces," Vision Research 45, pp. 1707–1724, jun 2005.
- [136] R. Palermo and G. Rhodes, "Are you always on my mind? A review of how face perception and attention interact," *Neuropsychologia* 45(1), pp. 75–92, 2007.
- [137] R. VanRullen, "On second glance: Still no high-level pop-out effect for faces," Vision Research 46, pp. 3017–3027, sep 2006.
- [138] M. D. Weaver and J. Lauwereyns, "Attentional capture and hold: the oculomotor correlates of the change detection advantage for faces.," *Psychological research* 75, pp. 10–23, jan 2011.
- [139] C. Shelley, "Biomorphism and models in design," Studies in Applied Philosophy, Epistemology and Rational Ethics 20, pp. 209–221, 2015.
- [140] M. J. O. Stephan K. Chalup, Kenny Hong, S. K. Chalup, K. Hong, and M. J. Ostwald, "Simulating Pareidolia of Faces for Architectural Image Analysis," *International Journal* of Computer Information Systems and Industrial Management Applications 2, pp. 262– 278, 2010.
- [141] K. Hong, S. K. Chalup, R. A. King, and M. J. Ostwald, "Scene perception using pareidolia of faces and expressions of emotion," in 2013 IEEE Symposium on Computational Intelligence for Creativity and Affective Computing (CICAC), pp. 79–86, IEEE, apr 2013.
- [142] F. Gosselin and P. G. Schyns, "Superstitious Perceptions Reveal Properties of Internal Representations," *Psychological Science* 14, pp. 505–509, sep 2003.
- [143] C. A. Rieth, K. Lee, J. Lui, J. Tian, and D. E. Huber, "Faces in the mist: Illusory face and letter detection," *i-Perception* 2(5), pp. 458–476, 2011.

- [144] D. Y. Tsao and M. S. Livingstone, "Mechanisms of Face Perception," Annual Review of Neuroscience 31, pp. 411–437, jul 2008.
- [145] S. Takao, "A system for rapid development and easy sharing of accurate demonstrations for vision science.," *Frontiers in Neuroscience* 4, 2010.
- [146] B. Jemel, M. Pisani, L. Rousselle, M. Crommelinck, and R. Bruyer, "Exploring the functional architecture of person recognition system with event-related potentials in a within- and cross-domain self-priming of faces," *Neuropsychologia* 43(14), pp. 2024–2040, 2005.
- [147] S. Bentin and Y. Golland, "Meaningful processing of meaningless stimuli: The influence of perceptual experience on early visual processing of faces," *Cognition* 86(1), pp. B1–B14, 2002.
- [148] N. George, B. Jemel, N. Fiori, L. Chaby, and B. Renault, "Electrophysiological correlates of facial decision: Insights from upright and upside-down Mooney-face perception," *Cognitive Brain Research* 24(3), pp. 663–673, 2005.
- [149] M. Latinus and M. J. Taylor, "Holistic processing of faces: Learning effects with Mooney faces," *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience* 17, pp. 1316–1327, aug 2005.
- [150] J. Theeuwes and S. Van der Stigchel, "Faces capture attention: Evidence from inhibition of return," Visual Cognition 13(6), pp. 657–665, 2006.
- [151] S. R. Langton, A. S. Law, A. M. Burton, and S. R. Schweinberger, "Attention capture by faces," *Cognition* 107, pp. 330–342, apr 2008.
- [152] A. Ariga and K. Arihara, "Visual attention is captured by task-irrelevant faces, but not by pareidolia faces," in 2017 9th International Conference on Knowledge and Smart Technology: Crunching Information of Everything, KST 2017, pp. 266–269, IEEE, feb 2017.
- [153] S. Shimojo, C. Simion, E. Shimojo, and C. Scheier, "Gaze bias both reflects and influences preference," *Nature Neuroscience* 6, pp. 1317–1322, dec 2003.